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KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 
Level 19, Nation Tower 2 
Corniche Road, P.O. Box 7613 
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
Tel. +971 (2) 401 4800, www.kpmg.com/ae  

ndeoonoent ausois,  remit 
To the Shareholders of Finance House PJSC 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Finance House PJSC ("the 
Company') and its subsidiaries ("the Group"), which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statements of profit or loss, 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section of our report, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with IFRS Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS Standards). 

The Group's investment in Empay LLC, an investment in associate accounted for using 
the equity method, is carried at AED 34,450 thousands on the consolidated statement of 
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the Group's share of Empay LLC's net 
loss amounting to AED 3,000 thousands is included in the Group's consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended. We were unable 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on the carrying amount of Group's 
investment in Empay LLC as at 31 December 2022, the Group's share of Empay LLC's 
net loss for the year and related disclosures because there was no financial information 
available for Empay LLC. Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any 
adjustments to these amounts were necessary. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors' 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together 
with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our qualified opinion. 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee, All rights reserved. 
KPMG Losser Gull Limited is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates. 



Finance House PJSC 
Independent Auditors' Report 

31 December 2022 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Basis for 
Qualified Opinion section we have determined the matters described below to be key audit 
matters to be communicated in our report. 

See Note 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements. 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Group recognized allowances for Our audit procedures in this area include the 
credit losses in its consolidated following, among others: 
financial statements using expected 
credit loss (ECL") models. The Group • Evaluating the appropriateness of the 

exercises significant judgments and accounting policies adopted based on the 

makes a number of assumptions in requirements of IFRS 9, our business 

developing its ECL models which is understanding and industry practice; 

determined as a function of the • Obtaining an understanding of the ECL 
assessment of the probability of accounting estimate including, but not limited 
default ('PD"), loss given default to, obtaining information about the Group's 
('LGD"), adjusted for the forward control environment in relation to the estimate, 
looking information, and exposure at obtaining an understanding of the process by 
default ("EAD") associated with the which the estimate is developed, 
underlying exposures subject to ECL. understanding the methods, assumptions and 

Qualitative adjustments or overlays data used to develop the accounting estimate; 

may also be recorded by the Group • Assessing the design and implementation of 
using credit judgement where the selected relevant controls; 
inputs, assumptions and / or 
modelling techniques do not capture • Involving our Financial Risk Management 
all relevant risk factors captured by ("FRM") specialists, for a selection of models, 
the models. to assess the reasonableness and 

This is considered a key audit matter, 
appropriateness of the methodology and 

as the determination of ECL involves 
assumptions, as applicable, used in various 

significant management judgement, components of ECL modelling and the 

estimates, use of complex models 
application of expert credit judgment to 

and this has a material impact on the determine the ECL. This included, where 

consolidated financial statements of applicable, challenging key assumptions / 

the Group. 
judgments relating to significant increase in 
credit risk ("SICR"), definition of default, 
probability of default, use of macro-economic 
variables and probability weighted outcomes 
to check that the ECL amounts recorded are 
reflective of underlying credit quality and 
macroeconomic trends; 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved 
KPMG Lower Gulf Limited is registered and licensed under the laws of the United Arab Emirates 
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Key Audit Matters (C011tillUed) 

Impairment of loans, advances and Islamic financing (Mltilwed) 

See Note 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements (continued) 

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

• Testing the completeness and accuracy of 
the data used within the ECL calculation; 

• Re-performing key aspects of the Group's 
SICR determinations for selected samples of 
loans, advances and Islamic financing to 
determine whether a SICR event was 
appropriately identified; 

• Performing credit assessments for a sample 
of selected customers, including Stage 3 
customers, to test the appropriateness of the 
credit grades, including staging, assessing 
the financial performance of the borrower, 
source of repayment and future cash flows of 
the borrower, and as necessary, challenging 
the appropriateness of the ECL calculation 
for a sample of borrowers; 

• Assessing the adequacy of the Group's 
disclosures by reference to the requirements 
of the relevant accounting standards. 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
Chairman's report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditors' report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. As described in 
the Basis for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence about the carrying amount of the Group's investment in Empay 
LLC as at 31 December 2022 and the Group's share of Em pay LLC's net loss for the year. 
Accordingly, we were unable to conclude whether or not the other information is materially 
misstated with respect to this matter. 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
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Finance House PJSC 
Independent Auditors' Report 

31 December 2022 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with IFRS Standards and their preparation in 
compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with Governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's financial 
reporting process. 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control. 

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member Errs of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms 
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AlLiditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in 
our auditors' report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Further, as required by the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021, except for the matter 
disclosed in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we report that for the year ended 31 
December 2022: 

i) we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for 
the purposes of our audit; 

ii) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material 
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021; 

iii) the Group has maintained proper books of account; 

iv) the financial information included in the Chairman's report is consistent with the 
books of account of the Group; 

v) as disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has 
purchased shares during the year ended 31 December 2022; 

vi) note 37 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party 
transactions and the terms under which they were conducted; 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited, licensed in the United Arab Emirates, and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member trios 
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Independent Auditors' Report 

31 December 2022 

vii) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to 
our attention which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2022 any of applicable provisions of the UAE 
Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 or in respect of the Company, its Articles of 
Association, which would materially affect its activities or its consolidated financial 
position as at 31 December 2022. 

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018 (as 
amended), except for the matter disclosed in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section, we 
report that we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary for the purpose of our audit. 

KPMG Lower Gulf Limited 

Fawzi AbuRass 
Registration No.: 968 
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates 
Date: 	14 February 2023 
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Finance House P.J.S.0 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 

2022 2021 
Note AED'OOO AED'OOO 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 17 8,407 8,096 
Due from banks 17 758,080 593,791 
Investment securities 18 268,348 319,015 
Loans and advances 19 2,001,148 2,082,265 
Islamic financing and investing assets 20 229636 30,305 
Investment in equity accounted investees 21 82,613 86,881 
Interest receivable and other assets 22 107,360 96,382 
Insurance receivables and contract assets 23 247,943 175,958 
Property, fixtures and equipment 24 105,669 99,260 
Intangibles 25 6,705 6,705 
Investment properties 26 4,100 3,500 

Total assets 39613,009 3,502,158 

Liabilities and Equity 
Liabilities 
Customers' deposits and margin accounts 27 2,060,674 11716,385 
Due to banks and other financial institutions 17 309059 26,720 
Short term borrowings 28 3409000 441,910 
Medium term loan 28 669667 100,000 
Unearned premiums 1129657 81,377 
Gross claims outstanding 919669 82,982 
Lease liabilities 537 1,105 
Interest payable and other liabilities 29 141,188 235,685 
Provision for employees' end of service benefits 30 14,371 14,328 

Total liabilities 29857,822 2,700,492 

11M 
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Finance House P.J.S.0 

Consolidated statement of financial position (continued) 
as at 31 December 

2022 2021 
Note AED'OOO AED'OOO 

Equity 
Share capital 31 3029838 302,838 
Treasury shares 32 (469535) (29,823) 
Employees' share-based payment scheme 33 (19750) (1,750) 
Statutory reserve 34 1519671 151,671 
Fair value reserve (569968) (21,800) 
Retained earnings 49072 2,379 
Tier 1 Sukuk 35 2769200 276,200 
Tier 1 Bonds 35 15,000 15,000 
Proposed directors' remuneration 2,048 29251 

6469576 696,966 
Non-controlling interests 1089611 104,700 

Total equity 7559187 801,666 

Total liabilities and equity 396139009 3,502,158 

Commitments and contingent liabilities 36 5099478 600,387 

To the best of our knowledge, the consolidated financial statements present fairly in all material respects the 
financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Group as of, and for, the periods presented 
therein. 

These consolidated financial statements were authorized and approved for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 14 February 2023 and signed on their behalf by: 

yam 
Mr. Mohammed Alqubaisi 
	

Mr. T.K. Raman 
Vice Chairman 
	

Chief Executive Officer 

The notes on pages 15 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Finance House P.J.S.0 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
for the year ended 31 December 

Interest income and income from Islamic financing and 
investing assets 

Interest expense and profit distributable to depositors 

Net interest income and income from Islamic 
financing and investing assets 

Fee and commission income 
Fee and commission expenses 

Net fee and commission income 

Net insurance premium earned 
Net commission paid 
Net insurance claims incurred 
Other underwriting expenses 

Net insurance income 

Net investment income 
Credit impairment loss on loans and advances 
Credit impairment reversal / (loss) on Islamic financing 

and investing assets 
Other operating income - net 

Net operating income 

Salaries and employees related expenses 
Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment 
Interest on lease liabilities 
General and administrative expenses 

Operating profit for the year 

Share of losses of equity accounted investees 

Profit for the year 

2022 2021 
Note AED'OOO AED'OOO 

10 193,317 180,945 
10 (559069) (43,749) 

10 138,248 137,196 

11 31,079 29,251 
11 (12,768) (13,388) 

11 18,311 15,863 

1349666 129,840 
(59634) (9,705) 

(899712) (66,636) 
(69173) (11,608) 

33,147 	41,891 

12 	129363 25,008 
19 	(44,009) (52,892) 

20 	 59721 (200) 
13 	269258 26,534 

1909039 	193,400 

14 	(1099561) (102,846) 
24 	(99154) (13,450) 

(5) (23) 
15 	(469266) (51,417) 

25,053 25,664 

21 	(4,268) (2,906) 

20,785 229758 



Finance House P.J.S.0 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 

2022 2021 
Note AED'OOO AED'OOO 

Profit for the year 209785 22,758 

Other comprehensive income: 
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value (199073) 59,954 
Items that are reclassified subsequently to profit or 

loss: 
Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value (119083) 1,083 

Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (309156) 61,037 

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (9,371) 83,795 

Profit attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent 169562 15,484 
Non-controlling interests 49,223 7,274 

209785 22,758 

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 
Equity holders of the parent (13,282) 72,677 
Non-controlling interests 39911 11,118 

(9,371) 83,795 

Basic and diluted loss per share 
attributable to ordinary shares (AED) 16 	 (0.01) (0.01) 

The notes on pages 15 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows  
for the year ended 31 December 
  2022 2021 
 Note AED’000 AED’000 
Cash flows from operating activities  
Profit for the year  20,785 22,758  
 
Adjustments for:  
Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment  9,154 13,450  
Gain on fair valuation of investment in property  (600) - 
Share of loss of equity accounted investees  4,268 2,906  
Dividend income from investments  (8,919) (10,012)  
Loss on disposal of investments  
  carried at fair value through profit or loss  (7,226) (4,169)  
Net change in fair value of investments carried at fair 
  value through profit or loss  3,821 (11,639)  
Loss on disposal of investment carried at amortized cost  (39) - 
Net impairment loss on loans and advances  44,009 52,892  
Impairment (reversal) / loss on Islamic financing and investing assets   (5,721) 200 
Net provision for employees’ end of service  
   benefits  2,386 (597)  
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 

  61,918 65,789 
Changes in: 
   Islamic financing and investing assets  13,390 29,876  
   Loans and advances  37,108 33,196  
 Placement with banks maturing above three months  - 1,044  

   Interest receivable and other assets  (10,978) 16,467   
   Insurance receivables and contract assets  (71,985) (64,184)  
   Customers’ deposits and margin accounts  344,289 (207,574)   
   Unearned premiums  31,280 2,009   
   Gross claims outstanding  8,687 25,786   
   Interest payable and other liabilities  (94,497) 56,528 
   Lease liabilities  (568) (2,356)   
  ------------------------- -------------------------  
 Cash generated from / (used in) operating activities  318,644 (43,419)  
 Employees’ end of service benefits paid  (2,343) (2,285) 

Dividend received  8,919 10,012 
 Directors’ remuneration paid  (2,251) (1,957)  
  ------------------------- -------------------------  
Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities   322,969 (37,649) 
Cash flows from investing activities  
Purchase of investments carried at fair value through  
   other comprehensive income  (30,189) (36,467)  
Proceeds from sale of investments carried at fair value 
  through other comprehensive income  48,000 62,278 
Purchase of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss  (50,370) (49,206)  
Proceeds from sale of investments carried at fair value  
  through profit or loss  54,628 34,634 
Proceeds from sale of investments carried at amortized cost   1,886 3,673 
Purchase of investments carried at amortized cost  - (1,847)  
Purchase of property, fixtures and equipment  (15,563) (18,563)  
Disposal of property, fixtures and equipment  - 4,425 
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Net cash generated from / (used in) investing activities  8,392 (1,073) 
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 



Finance House P.J.S.C 
 

14 

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 

 
  2022 2021 
 Note AED’000 AED’000 
 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayments of short-term borrowings  (132,910) (250,000)  
Repayment of Medium-term loans (33,333)          (25,000)  
Proceeds from Short Term borrowings  31,000 393,750 
Proceeds from Medium Term loan  - 100,000 
Movement in Tier 1 Sukuk  - (3,650)   
Tier 1 SUKUK coupon paid  (16,907) (17,008)  
Tier 1 Bond coupon paid  (1,238) (1,238) 
Cash dividend paid  - (5,749)  
Purchase of treasury shares   (16,712) (29,823) 
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities  (170,100) 161,282 
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      161,261           122,560  
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  569,167 446,607 
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 730,428 569,167 

  ===========     =========== 
 
The notes on pages 15 to 105 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1 Legal status and principal activities 
 
Finance House P.J.S.C. (“the Company”) is a Public Joint Stock Company incorporated in Abu 
Dhabi, United Arab Emirates (U.A.E.) in accordance with the provisions of the U.A.E. Federal 
Commercial Companies Law No. (32) of 2021, the Decretal Federal Law No. 14 of 2018 
regarding the Central Bank and Organization of Financial Institution and Activities and under 
authority of resolutions of the Board of Directors of the U.A.E. Central Bank relating to Finance 
Companies.  
 
The registered head office of the Company is at P.O. Box 7878, Abu Dhabi, U.A.E. 
 
The Company was established on 13 March 2004 and commenced its operations on 18 July 2004. 
The Company performs its activities through its head office in Abu Dhabi and its Abu Dhabi, 
Dubai, and Sharjah branches. The principal activities of the Company consist of investments, 
consumer and commercial financing and other related services.  
 
The Company is listed on the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange (Ticker: FH). 
 
On 24 October 2018, management of Islamic Finance House (“the Subsidiary”) submitted an 
adjustment plan for restructuring the Subsidiary to the Central Bank of UAE. The adjustment 
plan has been approved by the Board of Directors on the 6 of February 2019 and by the Central 
Bank of the UAE on 10 October 2019. The purpose of the plan is to adjust the activities of the 
subsidiary to meet the requirements of the newly issued regulations for finance companies. On 
12 October 2020, Central Bank of the UAE has licensed Finance House L.L.C. (formerly known 
as Islamic Finance House P.J.S.C.) to conduct financing business specified in Article (10) of the 
Finance Companies Regulation. 
 
These consolidated financial statements comprise the Company and its subsidiaries listed in note 
8 (together referred as “the Group”). 
 
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 14 
February 2023. 
 

2 Basis of preparation 
 

(a) Statement of compliance 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and interpretations issued by the IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) applicable to companies reporting under IFRS and the 
applicable requirements of the laws in the U.A.E. The consolidated financial statements comply 
with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
 
On 20 September 2021, the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 was issued and came into 
effect on 2 January 2022 which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (as amended). 
The Company is in compliance with applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No. 
32 of 2021 as at the date of these financial statements. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(b) Basis of measurement 
 

These consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared on the historical cost 
basis except for debt securities, equity shares that are classified as either fair value through profit 
and loss (FVTPL) or fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI), non-financial 
assets acquired in settlement of loans and advances and investment properties that are measured 
at their fair values at the end of each reporting period.  
 

(c) Functional and presentation currency 
 

These consolidated financial statements of the Group are prepared in U.A.E. Dirham (AED) 
which is the functional currency of the Group. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand 
(AED ‘000’), except otherwise indicated. 
 

(d) Use of estimates and judgements 
 

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 

Information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
statements are described in Note 4 to the financial statements.  
 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 

(a) New and amended standards and interpretations adopted  
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these financial statements, unless otherwise stated. 
 

The following amendments to existing standards and framework have been applied by the 
Group in preparation of these consolidated financial statements. The application of these 
amendments to IFRSs has not had any material impact on the amounts reported for the current 
and prior periods but may affect the accounting for the Group’s future transactions or 
arrangements.  
 

Description Effective from 
  
Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) 1 January 2022 
Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use 
(Amendments to IAS 16) 

1 January 2022 

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to 
IAS 37). 

1 January 2022 

First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards: 
Subsidiary as a first-time adopter (Annual improvements to IFRS 1) 

1 January 2022 

Financial Instruments: Fees in the ’10 per cent’ test for derecognition 
of financial liabilities (Annual improvements to IFRS 9) 

1 January 2022 

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 
(Amendment to IFRS 16) 

1 January 2022 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and has not been adopted early by 
the Group 

 
The impact of the new standards, interpretations and amendments that are issued, but not yet 
effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below. The 
Group intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they become effective. 
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 
2023 with earlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied)   
 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (1 January 2023): Once effective IFRS 17 will replace IFRS 4 the 
current insurance contracts standard and it is expected to significantly change the way the Group 
measures and reports its insurance contracts. The overall objective of the new standard is to 
provide an accounting model for insurance contracts that is more useful and consistent for users. 
IFRS 17 applies to insurance contracts (including reinsurance contracts) an entity issues, 
reinsurance contracts an entity holds and investment contracts with discretionary participation 
features an entity issues provided it also issues insurance contracts.  
 
The scope of IFRS 17 for the Group is materially consistent with that of IFRS 4. Investment 
contracts will be measured under IFRS 9. IFRS 17 requires that contracts are divided into groups 
for the purposes of recognition and measurement. Portfolios of contracts are identified by 
grouping together contracts which have similar risks and are managed together. These groups are 
then further divided into groups based on their expected profitability. 
 
Contracts which are onerous at inception cannot be grouped with contracts which are profitable 
at inception. Contracts which are issued more than one year apart are not permitted to be included 
within the same group, although there is some relief from this requirement for business in-force 
at the date of transition under the transitional arrangements. 
  
The standard introduces three measurement approaches, of which two, the general model and the 
premium allocation approach, are applicable to the Group’s business. The main features of these 
models are the measurement of an insurance contract as the present value of expected future cash 
flows including acquisition costs, plus an explicit risk adjustment, remeasured at each reporting 
period using current assumptions, and a contractual service margin (‘CSM’). 
  
The risk adjustment represents the compensation the Group requires for bearing the uncertainty 
about the amount and timing of cash flows that arise from non-financial risk as the obligations 
under the insurance contract are fulfilled.  
 
The CSM represents the unearned profit of a group of insurance contracts and is recognised in 
profit or loss as the insurance service is provided to the customer using coverage units. Coverage 
units are a measurement of the quantum of service provided across the life of the contract and are 
used to measure the service provided in the reporting period and release a corresponding amount 
of profit to the income statement. If a group of contracts becomes loss-making after inception the 
loss is recognised immediately in the statement of profit or loss. This treatment of profits and 
losses in respect of services is broadly consistent with the principles of IFRS 15 and IAS 37 
applicable to other industries. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and has not been adopted early by 
the Group (continued) 
 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 
2023 with earlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied) 
(continued) 
 

Under the general model the CSM is adjusted for non-economic assumption changes relating to 
future periods. For certain contracts with participating features the variable fee approach is 
applied, this allows changes in economic assumptions and experience to adjust the CSM as well 
as non-economic assumptions, reflecting the variable nature of the entity’s earnings driven by 
investment returns. IFRS 17 requires the standard to be applied retrospectively. Where this is 
assessed as impracticable the standard allows the application of a simplified retrospective 
approach or a fair value approach to determine the contractual service margin. The measurement 
principles set out in IFRS 17 will significantly change the way in which the company measures 
its insurance contracts and associated reinsurance contracts.  
 

These changes will impact the pattern in which profit emerges when compared to IFRS 4 and 
add complexity to valuation processes, data requirements and assumption setting. The 
introduction of IFRS 17 will simplify the presentation of the statement of financial position. It 
requires the presentation of groups of insurance (or reinsurance) contracts that are in an asset 
position separately from those in a liability position. The presentation of the statement of 
comprehensive income will change more significantly with IFRS 17 setting out how components 
of the profitability of contracts are disaggregated into an insurance service result and insurance 
finance income/expenses. IFRS 17 also requires extensive disclosures on the amounts recognised 
from insurance contracts and the nature and extent of risks arising from them. 
 

Premium allocation approach (PAA): The Premium allocation approach is an optional simplified 
measurement model in IFRS 17 that is available for insurance and reinsurance contracts that meet 
the eligibility criteria.  
 

The Group expects that it will apply the PAA to all contracts because the following criteria are 
expected to be met at inception. 
 

Insurance contracts and loss-occurring reinsurance contracts: The coverage period of each 
contract in the Group is one year or less. 
 

Risk-attaching reinsurance contracts: The Group reasonably expects that the resulting 
measurement of the asset for remaining coverage would not differ materially from the result of 
applying the accounting policies described above.  
 

Under IFRS 17, the measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows 
within the boundary of each contract in the group. Compared with the current accounting, the 
Group expects that for certain contracts the IFRS 17 contract boundary requirements will change 
the scope of cash flows to be included in the measurement of existing recognised contracts, as 
opposed to future unrecognised contracts. The period covered by the premiums within the 
contract boundary is the ‘coverage period’, which is relevant when applying a number of 
requirements in IFRS 17.  
 

Insurance acquisition cash flows arise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a 
group of contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group 
belongs. Under IFRS 17 insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of contracts 
using systematic and rational methods based on the total premiums for each group.  
 

Under IFRS 17, only insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the 
related insurance contracts are recognised as separate assets and tested for recoverability, whereas 
other insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the estimates of the present value of future 
cash flows as part of the measurement of the related insurance contracts. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(b) Standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective and has not been adopted early by 
the Group (continued) 
 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 
2023 with earlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied) 
(continued) 
 

Impact assessment – Non-Life Insurance  
 

Although the PAA is similar to the Group’s current accounting treatment when measuring 
liabilities for remaining coverage, the following changes are expected in the accounting for Non-
life contracts. 

  
Changes from IFRS 4 Impact on equity on transition to IFRS 17 
Under IFRS 17, the Group will discount the future 
cash flows when measuring  
liabilities for incurred claims, unless they are 
expected to occur in one year or less from the date 
on which the claims are incurred. The Group does 
not currently discount such future cash flows 

Increase  

IFRS 17 requires the fulfilment cash flows to 
include a risk adjustment for non- financial risk. 
This is not explicitly allowed for currently. 

Decrease  

The Group’s accounting policy under IFRS 17 to 
expense eligible insurance acquisition cash flows 
when they are incurred differs from the current 
practice under which these amounts are 
recognised separately as deferred acquisition 
costs. 

Decrease  

 

The Group implementation project continued through 2022 with a focus on finalising 
methodologies and developing the operational capabilities required to implement the standard 
including data, systems and business processes. The current focus is on embedding the 
operational capabilities and determining the transition balance sheet and comparatives required 
for 2023 reporting.  
 

Since the implementation project is currently ongoing, management believes that it is impractical 
to determine the amount of the effect of IFRS 17 in the current period. 

 

(c) Business combinations 
 

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired 
set of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the 
Group.  
 

In determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses 
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive 
process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. The Group has an option 
to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of 
activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test is met if substantially all 
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group 
of similar identifiable assets. 
 

The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured 
at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. The 
consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing 
relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. Acquisition-related costs 
are expensed as incurred and included in general, administration and other operating expenses, 
except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(c) Business combinations (continued) 
 
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for 
appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic 
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 
embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, any previously held equity interest is re-
measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or 
loss. It is then considered in the determination of goodwill. Any contingent consideration is 
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay contingent consideration 
that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured 
and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other contingent consideration is 
remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes in the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred or in an excess of the fair 
value of net assets acquired over the aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is 
recognised in profit or loss. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units (“CGU”) that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of 
whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units. 
 
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that 
unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying 
amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in 
these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the disposed operation and the 
portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 
 

(d) Subsidiaries  
 
IFRS 10 governs the basis for consolidation where it establishes a single control model that 
applies to all entities including special purpose entities or structured entities. The definition of 
control is such that an investor controls an investee when it is exposed to, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. To meet the definition of control in IFRS 10, all three 
criteria must be met, including: 
 

• the investor has power over an investee;  
• the investor has exposure to, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the 

investee; and  
• the investor has the ability to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of the 

investor’s returns. 
 
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant 
activities of the investee unilaterally. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 
 
• the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings 

of the other vote holders; 
• potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders and other parties; 
• rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, 

the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns and previous shareholders’ meetings. 

 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and/or 
ceases when the Group loses control over the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to control 
the subsidiary.  
 
Profit or loss of each component of other comprehensive income is attributable to the owners of 
the Group and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributable to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interest even if this results 
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 
 
When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies. All intragroup assets, 
liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between members of 
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. 
 
Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in existing subsidiaries 
 
Changes in the Group's ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of 
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their 
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is 
recognized directly in equity and attributed to shareholders of the Parent. 
 
When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are 
derecognized. Amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are also reclassified to the consolidated statement of profit or loss or transferred directly to 
retained earnings. 
 
Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost, and its fair value is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost 
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 
‘Financial Instruments’ or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 
associate or a joint venture. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(d) Investment in equity accounted investees 
 

An associate is an investee over which the Group has significant influence. Significant influence 
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not 
control or joint control over those policies. Investment in associates is accounted under the equity 
method of accounting. 
 

Under the equity method, the investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost, which 
includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements 
include the Company’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity accounted investees, until 
the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. Goodwill relating to the associate 
is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually 
tested for impairment. The consolidated statement of income reflects the Company’s share of the 
results of operations of the associates. Any change in other comprehensive income of those 
investees is presented as part of the Group’s other comprehensive income. In addition, when there 
has been a change recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its 
share of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.  
 

The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as the Group. 
When necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies in line with those of the 
Company.  
 

(f) Investment in associate 
 

 After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize 
an impairment loss on its investment in its associate. At each reporting date, the Group determines 
whether there is objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If there is 
such evidence, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the 
recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value, and then recognises the loss in the 
consolidated statement of income. 

 

(g) Equity method 
 

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognized at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the 
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive income 
of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from associates 
are recognized as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share 
of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including 
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it 
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealized gains on 
transactions between the group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the group’s 
interest in these entities. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides 
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity accounted 
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.  
 

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy described in Note 3 (n). 
 

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate. 
 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand, unrestricted balances held with 
central banks and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less 
from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, 
and are used by the Group in the management of its short-term commitments. 
 

Cash and cash equivalents are non-derivative financial assets carried at amortized cost in the 
statement of financial position.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets and liabilities 

 
Recognition and initial measurement 
 
The Group initially recognizes loans and advances, deposits, debt securities issued and 
subordinated liabilities on the date on which they are originated.  
 
All other financial instruments (excluding regular way purchases and sales of financial assets) 
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on the settlement date, i.e. the date the asset is delivered to or received from the 
counterparty. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are those that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement  
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost, FVOCI – debt 
investment, FVOCI – equity investment, or FVTPL. 
 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model.  
 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is 
not designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• it is held within a business model whose objectives is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and  

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
A debt investment is measured at FVTOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 
 

• it is held within a business model whose objectives is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.  

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis.  
 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI as described above 
are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as 
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(i) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 

 
Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
Financial assets – Business model assessment  
 
The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which a financial asset is 
held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information 
is provided to management. The information considered includes: 
 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 
practice. In particular, whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest 
revenue, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the financial 
assets to the duration of the liabilities that are funding those assets or realising cash flows 
through the sale of the assets; 
 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 
 

• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within 
that business model) and how those risks are managed; 

 

• how managers of the business are compensated - e.g. whether compensation is based on the 
fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 

 

• the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its 
expectations about future sales activity.  

 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of 
the assets. 
 

Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is evaluated on 
a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL. 
 

Financial assets - Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest (“SPPI”) 
 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as 
profit margin. 
 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual 
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a 
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition.  
In making the assessment, the Group considers: 
 

• contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;  
• leverage features;  
• prepayment and extension terms;  
• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset 

arrangement); and  
• features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of interest 

rates). 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

Financial assets - Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal 
and interest (“SPPI”) (continued) 
 
The Group holds a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate loans for which the Group has the option to 
propose to revise the interest rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the 
market rate at the time of revision. The borrowers have an option to either accept the revised rate 
or redeem the loan at par without penalty. The Group has determined that the contractual cash 
flows of these loans are SPPI because the option varies the interest rate in a way that is 
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic lending risks and costs 
associated with the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Reclassification 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in the period 
after the Group changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
 
Derecognition 
 
The Group derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 
 
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset (or 
the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the asset derecognized) and the sum of (i) the 
consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) 
any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in profit or loss. 
 

Any cumulative gain/loss recognized in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated 
as at FVOCI is not recognized in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the 
Group is recognized as a separate asset or lability. 
 

If the Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognized on its statement of 
financial position but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not derecognized. 
 

When assets are sold to a third party with a concurrent total return swap on the transferred assets, 
the transaction is accounted for as a secured financing transaction similar to sale-and repurchase 
transactions, because the Group retains all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership of such assets. 
 

In transactions in which the Group neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Group continues 
to recognize the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to 
which it is exposed to changes in the value of the transferred asset. 

 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled or expire. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
Modification of financial assets and financial liabilities  
 
Financial assets 
 
If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Group evaluates whether the cash flows of 
the modified asset are substantially different.  
 

If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is 
derecognised and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction 
costs. Any fees received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows: 
 

• fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent 
reimbursement of eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the 
asset; and 

• other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 
 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximise recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to 
originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial 
asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a 
portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. This approach 
impacts the result of the quantitative evaluation and means that the derecognition criteria are not 
usually met in such cases. 
 

If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, then the Group first recalculates the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset using the original effective interest rate of the asset and recognises the 
resulting adjustment as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial 
assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted 
to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs or fees incurred and 
fees receivable as part of the modification adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified 
financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified financial asset. 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of 
the modified liability are substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on 
the modified terms is recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the 
financial liability derecognised and consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss. 
Consideration paid includes non-financial assets transferred, if any, and the assumption of 
liabilities, including the new modified financial liability. 
 
If the modification of a financial liability is not accounted for as derecognition, then the amortised 
cost of the liability is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the original effective 
interest rate and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial 
liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification gain or loss is 
adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. Any costs and fees 
incurred are recognised as an adjustment to the carrying amount of the liability and amortised 
over the remaining term of the modified financial liability by re-computing the effective interest 
rate on the instrument. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets and liabilities  (continued) 
 

Interest rate benchmark reform 
 

If the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of a financial asset or financial liability 
measured at amortised cost changes as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, then the Group  
updates the effective interest rate of the financial assets or financial liability to reflect the change 
that is required by the reform. A change in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows 
is required by interest rate benchmark reform if the following conditions are met: 
 

- the change is necessary as a direct consequence of the reform; and  
- the new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to 

the previous basis – i.e. the basis immediately before the change. 
 

If changes are made to a financial asset or financial liability in addition to changes to the basis 
for determining the contractual cash flows required by interest rate benchmark reform, then the 
Group first updates the effective interest rate benchmark reform. After that, the Group applies 
the policies on accounting for modifications set out above to the additional changes. 
 

Impairment of financial assets 
 

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss (‘ECL’) associated with 
its debt instrument assets carried at amortized cost and FVTOCI and with the exposure arising 
from loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts. The Group recognizes a loss 
allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:  
 

• An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of 
possible outcomes; 

• The time value of money; and 
• Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 

reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions.  

 

Central Bank of UAE (“CBUAE”) provision requirements 
 

As per the CBUAE notice no. CBUAE/BSD/2018/458 dated 30 April 2018, clause 6.4, if the 
specific provision and general/collective provision cumulatively is higher than the impairment 
allowance computed under IFRS 9, the differential should be transferred to an “Impairment 
Reserve” as an appropriation from the Retained earnings. This impairment reserve should be split 
to that which relates to difference in specific provision and general/collective provision. The 
Impairment reserve will not be available for payment of dividend. 
 

Note 5(b)(iv) provides more details of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured. 
 

(j) Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments 
 
Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to 
reimburse the holders for a loss they incur because a specified debtor fails to make payment when 
due, in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Loan commitments are irrevocable 
commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions. 
 
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at 
the higher of: 
 
• The amount of the loss allowance; and 
• The premium received on initial recognition less income recognized in accordance with the 

principles of IFRS 15. 
 
Loan commitments provided by the Group are measured as the amount of the loss allowance 
calculated as described in Note 5 (b). 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(k) Islamic financing and investing assets 
 

Islamic financing assets are financial assets with fixed or expected profit payments. These assets 
are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provides funds directly to a 
customer with no intention of trading the receivable. 
 

Murabaha 
A sale contract whereby the Group sells to a customer commodities and other assets at an agreed 
upon profit mark up on cost. The Group purchases the assets based on a promise received from 
customer to buy the item purchased according to specific terms and conditions. Profit from 
Murabaha is quantifiable at the commencement of the transaction. Such income is recognised as 
it accrues over the period of the contract on effective profit rate method on the balance 
outstanding. 

 

Wakala 
An agreement between the Group and customer whereby one party (Rab Al Mal) provides a 
certain sum of money to an agent (Wakil), who invests it according to specific conditions in 
return for a certain fee (a lump sum of money or a percentage of the amount invested). The agent 
is obliged to guarantee the invested amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any of 
the terms and conditions of the Wakala. The Group may be Wakil or Rab Al Mal depending on 
the nature of the transaction.  
 

Ijara 
Ijara’s cost is measured and reported in the consolidated financial statements at a value not 
exceeding the cash equivalent value. The Ijara and purchase and leaseback are classified as a 
finance lease, when the Group undertakes to sell the leased assets to the lessee using an 
independent agreement upon the maturity of the lease and the sale results in transferring all the 
risks and rewards incident to an ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. Leased assets 
represent finance lease of assets for periods, which either approximate or cover a major part of 
the estimated useful lives of such assets. Leased assets are stated at amounts equal to the net 
investment outstanding in the leases including the income earned thereon less impairment 
provisions. 
 

(l) Property, fixtures and equipment 
 

Recognition and measurement 

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 

Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized as 
part of that equipment. 
 

If significant parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 
 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property and equipment is recognized within other 
income in profit or loss. 
 

Subsequent costs 
 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only if it is probable that the future economic benefits 
associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group. Ongoing repairs and maintenance are 
expensed as incurred. 
 

Depreciation  
 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their 
estimated residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and is 
generally recognized in profit or loss. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(l) Property, fixtures and equipment (continued) 
 
Depreciation (continued) 
 
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment for the current and comparative periods are 
as follows: 
 Years 

Building 30 

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4-5 

Motor vehicles 4 

Computer hardware and software 3-4 

 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 
 
Capital work-in progress is initially recorded at cost, and upon completion is transferred to the 
appropriate category of property and equipment and thereafter depreciated. 
 

(m) Intangible assets  
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortization and any accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangible assets, 
excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and expenditure is reflected in the 
Profit and loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred. The useful lives of intangible 
assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. 
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life 
are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset is accounted 
for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The estimated useful economic life of the intangible asset for the 
calculation of amortization is 5 years. 
 
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortized, but are tested for impairment 
annually, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life 
is reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, 
the change in useful life from indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. 
 
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the 
profit and loss when the asset is derecognized. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(n) Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 
than investment properties and deferred tax assets) to determine whether there is any indication 
of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. 
 
For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that 
generates cash inflows from continuing use that is largely independent of the cash inflows of 
other assets or CGUs. Goodwill arising from a business combination is allocated to CGUs or 
groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value 
less costs to sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU. 
 
An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
 
The Group’s corporate assets do not generate separate cash inflows and are used by more than 
one CGU. Corporate assets are allocated to CGUs on a reasonable and consistent basis and tested 
for impairment as part of the testing of the CGUs to which the corporate assets are allocated. 
 
Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the 
other assets in the CGU on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an impairment loss 
is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized. 
 
The impairment test also can be performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell 
or the value in use can be determined reliably. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 
 

(o) Investment properties 
 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions 
at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment 
properties are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which they 
arise. 
 
Investment properties are derecognized when either they have been disposed of or when the 
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is 
expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment 
property are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of retirement 
or disposal. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(o) Investment properties (continued) 
 
Transfer is made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use evidenced by 
the end of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating lease to another party. For a 
transfer from investment property to owner occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner occupied property becomes an 
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property and equipment up to the date of the change in use. Fair value is determined by 
open market values based on valuations performed by independent surveyors and consultants or 
broker’s quotes. 
 

(p) Insurance receivables 
 
Insurance receivables are recognized when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, insurance 
receivables are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.  The carrying 
value of insurance receivables is reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, with the impairment loss recorded in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 

(q) Reinsurance contracts held 
 
In order to minimize financial exposure from large claims, the Group enters into agreements with 
other parties for reinsurance purposes. Claims receivable from reinsurers are estimated in a 
manner consistent with the claim liability and in accordance with the reinsurance contract. Once 
the claim is paid the amount due from the reinsurer in connection with the paid claim is 
transferred to receivables arising from insurance and reinsurance companies. 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that a reinsurance asset 
may be impaired.  Where an indicator of impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate 
of recoverable amount.  Where the carrying amount of a reinsurance asset exceeds its recoverable 
amount the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Group from its obligations to policy holders. 
 
Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognized when the contractual rights are extinguished or 
expire when the contract is transferred to another party. 
 

(r) Repurchase agreements 
 
Assets sold with a simultaneous commitment to repurchase at a specified future date (“Repo”) 
are not derecognized.  The counterparty liability for amounts received under these agreements is 
included in term loans in the consolidated statement of financial position, as appropriate.  The 
difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest expense, which is accrued 
over the life of the repo agreement using the effective interest rate.   
 
  



Finance House P.J.S.C 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 

32 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(s) Operating segment reporting 

 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which 
it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses relating to transactions 
with any of the Group’s other components, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 
Group’s chief operating decision maker (CODM) to make decisions about resources to be 
allocated to the segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information 
is available. 
 
Segment results that are reported to the Group’s CODM include items that are directly 
attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated 
items comprise mainly corporate assets, head office expenses and tax assets and liabilities 
 

(t) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
The amount recognized as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to 
settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows. 
 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be 
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognized as an asset if it is virtually certain that 
reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 
 
Special provisions 
 
Unearned Premium Reserve (UPR) 
Unearned Premium Reserve (UPR) represents that portion of premiums earned, gross of 
reinsurance, which relates to the period of insurance subsequent to the statement of financial 
position date and is mainly computed using a linear method based on the outstanding period from 
the date of statement of financial position up to the date of the maturity of the policy based on 
actuarial estimates obtained from an independent actuary in accordance with the Financial 
Regulations for Insurance Companies issued by the Insurance Authority, U.A.E. 
 
Provision for IBNR 
Provision for Incurred but Not Reported (“IBNR”) claims is made at the statement of financial 
position date based on an actuarial estimate obtained from an independent actuary in accordance 
with the Financial Regulations for Insurance Companies issued by the Insurance Authority 
U.A.E. 
 
Provision for ULAE 
Provision for Unallocated Loss Adjustment Expenses (ULAE) which cannot be allocated to 
specific claims, is made at the statement of financial position date based on actuarial estimates 
obtained from an independent actuary in accordance with the Financial Regulations for Insurance 
Companies issued by the Insurance Authority, U.A.E 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(u) Employees’ end of service benefits 
 
Defined contribution plan 
 
With respect to its U.A.E. national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant 
government pension scheme, calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s 
obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 
Defined benefit plan 
 
The Group provides end of service benefits for its employees, i.e. Gratuity.  The entitlement to 
these benefits is based upon the employees’ length of service and completion of a minimum 
service period.  The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 
 
Share-based payments 
 
The grant-date fair value of equity settled share base payment arrangements granted to employees 
is recognized as personnel expense, with a corresponding increase in equity, over the vesting 
period of the awards. The amount recognized as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number of 
awards for which the related service and non-market performance conditions are expected to 
meet, such that the amount ultimately recognized is based on the number of awards that meet the 
related service and non-market performance conditions at the vesting date. For share-based 
payment awards with non-vesting conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment 
is measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true-up for differences between expected 
and actual outcomes. 
 
Share capital, other equity and reserves 
 
Other equity instruments 
The Group classifies instruments issued as financial liabilities or equity instruments in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual terms of the instruments. The Group’s other 
equity instruments are not redeemable by holders and bear an entitlement to coupons at the sole 
discretion of the board of directors. Accordingly, they are presented within equity. Distributions 
thereon are recognised in equity. Based on the Group’s assessment of the terms of the 
instruments, the coupon payments meet the definition of dividends. 
 

(v) Foreign currencies 
 
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the value dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
AED at the rates of exchange ruling at the consolidated statement of financial position date. Any 
resultant gains and losses are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are 
translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value was determined. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(w) Offsetting 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset, and the net amount presented in the statement 
of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to 
set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS Standards, or 
for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading 
activity. 

 
(x) Earnings per share  

 
The Group presents basic and diluted EPS data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated 
by dividing the profit or loss that is attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is 
determined by adjusting the profit or loss that is attributable to ordinary shareholders and the 
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential 
ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted to employees . 
 

(y) Fair values measurements 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or 
liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. 
 
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable 
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described 
as follows: 
 
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date; 
• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and  
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or 
transfer the liability takes place either: 
 
• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
  



Finance House P.J.S.C 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 

35 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(y) Fair values measurements (continued) 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimizing the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further 
details as to how they are measured are provided in Note 6. 
 
Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement 
and for non-recurring measurement. External valuers are involved for valuation of significant 
assets, such as investment property. Selection criteria for valuers include market knowledge, 
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. Management 
decides, after discussions with the Group’s external valuers, which valuation techniques and 
inputs to use for each case.  
 
Management, in conjunction with the Group’s external valuers, also compares changes in the fair 
value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to determine whether the change 
is reasonable. 
 

(z) Recognition of income and expenses 
 

i. Interest 
 
For all financial instruments measured at amortized cost and interest bearing financial 
instruments, interest income or expense is recorded at the effective interest rate, which is the rate 
that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the 
financial asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into account all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable 
to the instrument and are an integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future credit losses. 
The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Group revises 
its estimates of payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the 
original effective interest rate and the change in carrying amount is recorded as interest income 
or expense. 
  



Finance House P.J.S.C 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 

36 

3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

(z) Recognition of income and expenses (continued) 
 

ii. Fee and commission  
 
The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its 
customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two categories: 
 
• Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. 

These fees include commission income and other management and advisory fees. Loan 
commitment fees for loans that are likely to be drawn down and other credit-related fees are 
deferred (together with any incremental costs) and recognized as an adjustment to the 
effective interest rate on the loan. When it is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the 
loan commitment fees are recognized over the commitment period on a straight-line basis. 
 

• Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognized after 
fulfilling the corresponding criteria. 

 
iii. Murabaha 

 
Murabaha income is recognized on a time apportioned basis over the period of the contract based 
on the principal amounts outstanding.  
 

iv. Ijara 
 
Income from Ijara is recognised on a declining-value basis, until such time a reasonable doubt 
exists with regard to its collectability. 
 

v. Wakala 
 
Estimated income from Wakala is recognised on an accrual basis over the period, adjusted by 
actual income when received. Losses are accounted for on the date of declaration by the agent. 
 

vi. Income on balances with financial institutions 
 
Income on balances with financial institutions is calculated, on account, based on the 
expected/anticipated profit rates net of relevant fees and expenses. 
 

vii. Dividend income 
 
Income is recognized when the Group’s right to receive the payment is established. 
 

viii. Insurance income 
 
Insurance contracts 
 
Insurance contracts are those contracts where the Group has accepted significant insurance risk 
from another party (the “policyholders”) by agreeing to compensate the policyholders if a 
specified uncertain future event (the “insured event”) adversely affects the policyholders.  
 
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for 
the remainder of its lifetime, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, 
unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expire.  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)  
 

(z) Recognition of income and expenses (continued) 
 

viii. Insurance income (continued) 
 
Premiums earned 
 
Premiums written are taken into income over the terms of the policies to which they relate on a 
pro-rata basis. Unearned premiums represent the portion of premiums written relating to the 
unexpired periods of coverage. 
 
Commissions earned 
 
Profit commission is accounted for as and when received while other commissions are accounted 
for when earned. 
 
Claims 
 
Claims comprising amounts payable to contract holders and third parties and related loss 
adjustment expenses, net of salvage and other recoveries, are charged to income as incurred.  
Claims comprise the estimated amounts payable, in respect of claims reported to the Group. 
 
The Group generally estimates its claims based on previous experience. Claims requiring court 
or arbitration decisions are estimated individually.  Independent loss adjusters normally estimate 
property claims.   
 
The Group does not discount its liability for unpaid claims as these are expected to be settled 
within one year of reporting date. 
 

4 Use of estimates and judgements 
 
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, 
assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent 
liabilities. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if 
the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. Uncertainty about these assumptions and 
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of the asset or liability affected in the future periods. 
 

(a) Judgments 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements: 
 

i. Consolidation of entities in which the Group holds less than majority of voting rights 
 
The Group considers that it controls Insurance House P.S.C. even though it owns less than 50% 
of the voting rights. The Company is the largest shareholder of Insurance House P.S.C. with 
45.61% equity interest. Furthermore, the Company has substantial and material board presence 
and control over key financial and operational decisions.  
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4 Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 
 

(a) Judgments (continued) 
 

ii. Classification of properties  
 
Management decides, on acquisition of a property, whether it should be classified as investment 
property, property and equipment or as property held for sale. Properties acquired by the Group 
are recorded as investment properties if these were acquired for rental purposes, capital 
appreciation or as a settlement of loan. Properties held for own use are recorded as property, 
fixtures and equipment. Properties are recorded as held for sale if their carrying amounts will be 
recovered through a sale transaction. 
 

(b) Estimates and assumptions 
 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. The Group 
based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the consolidated financial 
statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, 
however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the 
Group. Such changes are reflected in the consolidated financial statements when they occur. 
 

i. Fair value of investment properties  
 
The Group engaged an independent valuation specialist to assess fair value for its investment 
properties using a valuation methodology based on the ‘comparable market value method’. The 
key assumptions used to determine the fair value of investment properties and sensitivity analyses 
are disclosed in Notes 6 and 26.  
 

ii. Fair value of unquoted investments 
 
As described in Note 6, management uses their judgment in selecting an appropriate valuation 
technique for financial instruments not quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques 
commonly used by market practitioners are applied. Such financial instruments are valued using 
discounted cash flow and capitalization of sustainable earnings analysis based on assumptions 
supported, where possible, by observable market prices or rates. The estimation of fair value of 
unquoted shares includes some assumptions not supported by observable market prices or rates. 
Details of assumptions used and of the results of sensitivity analyses regarding these assumptions 
are provided in Note 6. 
 

iii. Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance 
 
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance for financial assets measured at amortized 
cost and FVTOCI is an area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions 
about future economic conditions and credit behavior (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting 
and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used 
in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 5(b). 
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4 Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 
 

(b) Estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 

iii. Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance (continued) 
 
A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements 
for measuring ECL, such as: 
 
• Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk; 
• Determining the criteria and definition of default; 
• Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
• Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type 

of product/market and the associated ECL; and  
• Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL 
 

iv. Provision for outstanding claims 
 
Considerable judgement by management is required in the estimation of amounts due to contract 
holders arising from claims made under insurance contracts.  Such estimates are necessarily 
based on significant assumptions about several factors involving varying, and possible 
significant, degrees of judgement and uncertainty and actual results may differ from 
management’s estimates resulting in future changes in estimated liabilities.  The Group generally 
estimates its claims based on previous experience. Claims requiring court or arbitration decisions 
are estimated individually.  Independent loss adjusters along with the Group’s internal legal 
counsel normally estimate such claims.  Management reviews its provisions for claims incurred 
on a quarterly basis. 

 
5 Financial risk management 

 
(a) Introduction 

 
Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This 
process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability and each individual 
within the Group is accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The 
Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, the latter being subdivided into 
trading and non-trading risks. It is also subject to operational risks. 

 
i. Risk management structure 

 
The overall risk management responsibility lies with the Board of Directors of the Group, under 
which there is an Investment and Credit Committee (ICC) , Board Risk Management Committee 
and the Group Chief Risk Officer who take responsibility for identifying and controlling the risks.  
 
Board of Directors 
 
The overall risk management responsibility lies with the Board of Directors of the Group. It 
provides the direction, strategy and oversight of all the activities through various committees. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Introduction (continued) 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee comprises three members who are also part of the Board of Directors of 
the Group.  The Audit Committee has the overall responsibility of assessing the internal audit 
findings, directing implementation of audit recommendations and overseeing the internal audit 
activities undertaken within the internal control environment and regulatory compliance 
framework of the Group. Duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are governed by a 
formally approved Audit Committee Charter which is in line with best practice and control 
governance. 
 
Asset Liability Committee (ALCO) 
 
The asset liability management process is an act of planning, acquiring, and directing the flow of 
funds through an organization. The ultimate objective of this process is to generate adequate and 
stable earnings and to steadily build an organization's equity over time, while taking measured 
business risks. The Group has a well-defined asset liability management policy duly describing 
the objective, role and function of the Asset Liability Committee, which is the body within the 
Group that holds the responsibility to make strategic decisions to manage balance sheet related 
risks.  
 
Investment and Credit Committee (ICC) 
 
All major business proposals of clients are approved through the ICC. The ICC is a sub-
committee of the Board of Directors. The approval process and the authorities vested with the 
ICC members are well defined in a credit policy manual. The policy manual enumerates various 
procedures to be followed by relationship managers in bringing relationships to the Group. 
Various aspects of the credit approval process have been defined in the policy which enables 
efficient approval of the proposals. 
 
Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) 
 
BRMC is an independent committee of the Board of Directors that has, as its sole and exclusive 
function, the responsibility to ensure the effectiveness of FH’s risk management and compliance 
frameworks. 
 
The Committee assists the BOD in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities with regard to the risk 
appetite of the Group, the risk management and compliance framework and the governance 
structure, that supports it.   
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Introduction (continued) 
 

i. Risk management structure (continued) 
 
Risk Management Department (RMD) 
 
The RMD is an independent unit reporting to the Group Chief Risk Officer. The RMD is 
responsible for identifying, measuring, monitoring and controlling the risks arising out of various 
activities in the Group by the different business units. The process is through partnering with the 
units in identifying and addressing the risks by setting limits and reporting on the utilization 
thereof. 
 
The RMD also monitors compliance with the regulatory procedures and anti-money laundering 
monitoring procedures of the Group. 
 
Treasury 
 
Group Treasury is responsible for managing the Group’s assets and liabilities and the overall 
financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for managing the funding and liquidity risks 
of the Group. 
 
Internal Audit 
 
Risk management processes throughout the Group are audited annually by the internal audit 
function that examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Group’s compliance with the 
procedures. Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management and reports 
its findings and recommendations to the Audit Committee. The Head of Internal Audit has direct 
reporting lines to the Audit Committee in order to secure independence and objectivity in all 
audit engagements undertaken within the Group.  
 

ii. Risk measurement and reporting systems 
  
Monitoring and controlling risks are primarily performed based on limits established by the 
Group. These limits reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Group as well 
as the level of risk that the Group is willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected 
industries. In addition, the Group monitors and measures the overall risk bearing capacity in 
relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risk types and activities. 
 
Information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, 
control and identify early risks. This information is presented and explained to the RMD, and the 
head of each business division. The report includes aggregate credit exposure, limit exceptions 
and risk profile changes. On a monthly basis detailed reporting of industry, customer and 
geographic risks takes place. Senior management assesses the appropriateness of the provision 
for credit losses on a quarterly basis. RMD receives a comprehensive risk report once a quarter, 
which is designed to provide all the necessary information to assess and conclude on the risks of 
the Group. 
 
For all levels throughout the Group, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed 
in order to ensure that all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date 
information. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Introduction (continued) 
 

iii. Risk mitigation 
 
As part of its overall risk management, the Group uses certain instruments to manage exposures 
resulting from changes in interest rates and foreign currencies. The Group actively uses collateral 
to reduce its credit risks. 
 

iv. Risk concentration 
 
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counter parties are engaged in similar 
business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features 
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes 
in economic, political or other conditions.  Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative 
sensitivity of the Group’s performance to developments affecting an industry or geographic 
location. 
 
The Group seeks to manage its credit risk exposure through diversification of lending activities 
to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers in specific 
industries or businesses.   
 
Details of the composition of the loans, advances and Islamic financing and investing portfolio 
are provided in notes 19 and 20. Information on credit risk is provided in note 5(b). 
 

v. Risk assessment 
 
The Group has exposure to the following risks from financial instruments: 
 
• Credit risk 
• Liquidity risk 
• Market risk 
• Operational risk 
• Insurance risk 

 
(b) Credit risk 

 
‘Credit risk’ is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Group’s loans 
and advances to customers and other banks, and investment debt securities. For risk management 
reporting purposes, the Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposure – 
e.g. individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk 
 
Credit risk is the single largest risk from the Group’s business; management therefore carefully 
manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management and control are centralized in a 
risk management department which reports regularly to the Risk Management Committee.  
 
The ECL recorded on loans and advances measured at amortized cost and Islamic financing and 
investing assets measured at amortized cost has been disclosed in note 19 and 20 respectively. 
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5  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

i. Settlement risk 
 
The Group’s activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transactions and trades. 
‘Settlement risk’ is the risk of loss due to the failure of an entity to honor its obligations to deliver 
cash, securities or other assets as contractually agreed. 
 
For certain types of transaction, the Group mitigates this risk by conducting settlements through 
a settlement/clearing agent to ensure that a trade is settled only when both parties have fulfilled 
their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit approval/limit 
monitoring process described earlier. Acceptance of settlement risk on free-settlement trades 
requires transaction-specific or counterparty-specific approvals from Group Risk. 
 

ii. Write-off policy 
 
The Group writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical 
recovery efforts and has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that 
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) 
where the Group’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the value of the collateral is 
such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full. 
 
The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The 
outstanding contractual amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 
2022 was AED 3.08 million (2021: AED 12.08 million). The Group still seeks to recover amounts 
it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written off due to no reasonable 
expectation of full recovery. 
 

iii. Modification of financial assets 
 
The contractual terms of a loan may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing 
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit 
deterioration of the customer. An existing loan whose terms have been modified may be 
derecognised and the renegotiated loan recognised as a new loan at fair value in accordance with 
accounting policy set out in Note 3. 
 
When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in 
derecognition, the determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly 
reflects comparison of: 
 

• its remaining lifetime PD at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with 
• the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original 
contractual terms. 
 
When modification results in derecognition, a new loan is recognized and allocated to Stage 1 
(assuming it is not credit-impaired at that time).  
 

The Group renegotiates loans to customers in financial difficulties (referred to as ‘forbearance 
activities) to maximize collection opportunities and minimize the risk of default. Under the 
Group’s forbearance policy, loan forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the debtor is 
currently in default on its debt or if there is a high risk of default, there is evidence that the debtor 
made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the debtor is expected 
to be able to meet the revised terms. 
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5  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

iii. Modification of financial assets (continued) 
 
The revised terms usually include extending the maturity, changing the timing of interest 
payments and amending the terms of loan covenants. Both retail and corporate loans are subject 
to the forbearance policy. The Group Credit Committee regularly reviews reports on forbearance 
activities 
 
For financial assets modified as part of the Group’s forbearance policy, the estimate of PD 
reflects whether the modification has improved or restored the Group’s ability to collect interest 
and principal and the Group’s previous experience of similar forbearance action. As part of this 
process, the Group evaluates the borrower’s payment performance against the modified 
contractual terms and considers various behavioral indicators. 
 
Generally, forbearance is a qualitative indicator of a significant increase in credit risk and an 
expectation of forbearance may constitute evidence that an exposure is credit impaired. A 
customer needs to demonstrate consistently good payment behavior over a period of time before 
the exposure is no longer considered to be credit-impaired/in default or the PD is considered to 
have decreased such that it falls within the 12-month PD ranges for the asset to be considered 
Stage 1. 
 
The Group continues to monitor if there is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in 
relation to such assets through the use of specific models for modified assets. 
 

iv. Credit risk measurement 
 
Loans and advances (including loan commitments, LCs and LGs) 
 
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use 
of models, as the exposure varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and 
the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further 
estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default 
correlations between counterparties. The Group measures credit risk using Probability of Default 
(PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach 
used for the purposes of measuring Expected Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9.  
 
Credit risk grading 
 
The Group uses internal credit risk grading that reflect its assessment of the probability of default 
of individual counterparties. The Group uses specific internal risk rating models tailored to the 
various categories of industry/segments of counterparty. Borrower and loan specific information 
collected at the time of application (such as financial spread, management quality, Risk Bureau 
information, and account conduct, turnover and industry type for wholesale exposures) is fed into 
this rating model. This is supplemented with external data input such as credit bureau scoring on 
individual borrowers into the model. In addition, the models enable expert judgement from the 
Credit Risk Officer to be fed into the final internal credit rating for each exposure. This allows 
for considerations, which may not be captured as part of the other data inputs into the model. 
 
The credit grades are calibrated such that risk of default increases exponentially at each higher 
risk grade. For example, this means that the difference in the PD between a 6 and 8 rating grade 
is lower than the difference in the PD between an 18 and 20 rating grade. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
iv. Credit risk measurement (continued) 

 
The Risk Rating system for performing assets ranges from Obligor Risk Rating (“ORR”) ORR 1 
to ORR 7, each grade being associated with a Probability of Default (“PD”). Non-performing 
clients are rated ORR 8 to ORR 10, corresponding to substandard, doubtful and loss 
classifications. 
 
Retail 
 
After the date of initial recognition, for retail business, the payment behaviour of the borrower is 
monitored on a periodic basis to develop a behavioural score. Any other known information about 
the borrower which impacts their creditworthiness – such as unemployment and previous 
delinquency history – is also incorporated into the behavioural score. This score is mapped to a 
PD. 
 
Retail risk parameters i.e. PD, LGD & CCF or EAD have been estimated using ‘Segmentation 
Methodology’ or ‘Retail Pooling’; where following factors have been considered: 
 
• Asset classification as Credit Card, Executive Finance (or Personal Loan) and SME (or small 

business loan); 
• Days Past Due – 2 segment each for Stage 1 & Stage 2; and 1 for Stage 3 
 
Risk parameters have been estimated with respect to above segments and used the same for ECL 
computation. 
 
Wholesale 
 
For wholesale business, the rating is determined at the borrower level. A relationship manager 
will incorporate any updated or new information/credit assessments into the credit system on an 
ongoing basis. In addition, the relationship manager will also update information about the 
creditworthiness of the borrower every year from sources such as financial statements. This will 
determine the updated internal credit rating and the mapped PD.  
 
Treasury 
 
For debt securities in the Treasury portfolio, external rating agency credit grades are used. These 
published grades are continuously monitored and updated. The PD’s associated with each grade 
are determined based on realised default rates over the prior 12 months, as published by the rating 
agency. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

v. Expected credit loss measurement 
 
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since 
initial recognition as summarized below:  
 
• A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 

1’ and has its credit risk continuously monitored by the Group. 
 

• If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the 
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit impaired.  
 

• If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 
3’.   

• Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of 
lifetime expected credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 
months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their ECL measured based on expected credit 
losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to following note for a description of inputs, 
assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL.  
 

• A pervasive concept in measuring the ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should 
consider forward-looking information. The below note includes an explanation of how the 
Group has incorporated this in its ECL models.  

 
The following diagram summarizes the impairment requirements under IFRS 9:  
 

Change in credit quality since initial recognition 
 
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 
(Initial recognition) (Significant increase in credit 

risk since initial recognition) 
 

(Credit-impaired financial 
assets) 

12-month expected credit 
losses 

Lifetime expected credit losses Lifetime expected credit 
losses 

 
Significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk 
when a significant change in one-year probability of default occurs between the origination date 
of a specific facility and the IFRS 9 ECL run date. 
 
Quantitative criteria 
 
Corporate Loans: 
For Corporate loans, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default 
which can be triggered by the following factors: - 
- Loan facilities restructured in the last 12 months; 
- Loan facilities that are past due for 30 days and above but less than 90 days; 
- Actual or expected change in external ratings and / or internal ratings 
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5  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

v. Expected credit loss measurement (continued) 
 
Retail: 
For Retail portfolio, if the borrowers meet one or more of the following criteria:  
- Adverse findings for an account/ borrower as per credit bureau data; 
- Loan rescheduling before 30 Days Past Due (DPD); 
- Accounts overdue between 30 and 90 days. 
 
Treasury: 
- Significant increase in probability of default of the underlying treasury instrument; 
- Significant change in the investment’s expected performance & behaviour of borrower 

(collateral value, payment holiday, Payment to Income ratio etc.). 
 
Qualitative criteria:  
 
Corporate Loans: 
- Feedback from the Early Warning Signal framework of the Group (along factors such as 

adverse change in business, financial or economic conditions). 
 
Backstop: 
 
A backstop is applied, and the financial asset is considered to have experienced a significant 
increase in credit risk if the borrower is more than 30 days past due on its contractual payments.  
 

vi. Definition of default and credit-impaired assets 
 
The Group defines a financial instrument as in default, which fully aligned with the definition of 
credit-impaired, when it meets one or more of the following criteria:  
 
In addition to 90 DPD, for the retail and corporate portfolio, the default definition used is 
consistent with the Basel Framework. According to the Basel II definition, default is considered 
to have occurred with regard to obligors when either one or the following events have taken 
place: 
 
• The Group considers that the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligation to the Group in 

full without recourse by the Group to actions like realizing security (if held). 
• The Group puts credit obligation on non-accrued status. 
• The Group makes a charge-off or account-specific provision resulting from a perceived 

decline in credit quality subsequent to the Group taking on the exposure. 
• The Group sells the credit obligation at a material credit-related economic loss. 
• The Group consents to a distressed restructuring of the credit obligation where this is likely 

to result in a diminished financial obligation caused by the material forgiveness or 
postponement of principal, interest and other fees. 

• The Group has filed for the obligor’s bankruptcy or similar order in respect of the obligor’s 
credit obligation to the Group. The obligor has sought or has been placed in bankruptcy or 
similar protection wherein this would avoid or delay repayment of the credit obligation to 
the Group. 

• The obligor is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group. 
Overdrafts will be considered as being past due once the customer has breached an advised 
limit or been advised of a limit smaller than the current outstanding. 
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5  Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

vi. Definition of default and credit-impaired assets (continued) 
 

The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Group and are 
consistent with the definition of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The 
default definition has been applied consistently to model the Probability of Default (PD), 
Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD) throughout the Group’s expected 
loss calculations. 
 
An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets 
any of the default criteria for a consecutive period of twelve months. This period of twelve 
months has been determined based on an analysis, which considers the likelihood of a financial 
instrument returning to default status after cure using different cure definitions. 

 
vii. Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques 

 
The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis 
depending whether a significant increase in credit has occurred since initial recognition or 
whether an asset is considered to be credit-impaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted 
product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default 
(LGD), defined as follows:  
 
• The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per 

‘Definition of default and credit-impaired’ above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), 
or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation. 

• EAD is based on the amounts the Group expected to be owed at the time of default, over the 
next 12 months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, 
for a revolving commitment, the Group includes the current drawn balance plus any further 
amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit by the time of default, 
should it occur. 

• Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Group’s expectation of the extent of loss on a 
defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and 
availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per 
unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12-month or lifetime 
basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default 
occurs in the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made 
if the default occurs over the remaining expected lifetime of the loan.  

 
The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each 
individual exposure or collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and 
adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier 
month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back 
to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the original 
effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.  
 
The lifetime PD is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12M PD. The maturity 
profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial recognition 
throughout the lifetime of the loans. The maturity profile is based on historical observed data and 
is assumed to be the same across all assets within a portfolio and credit grade band. This is 
supported by historical analysis.  
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

vii. Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued) 
 
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which 
varies by product type.  
 
• For amortizing products and bullet repayments loans, this is based on the contractual 

repayments owed by the borrower over a 12 month or lifetime basis. This will also be 
adjusted for any expected overpayments made by a borrower. Early repayment/refinance 
assumptions are also incorporated into the calculation.  

• For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance 
and adding a “credit conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the 
remaining limit by the time of default. These assumptions vary by product type and current 
limit utilization based on analysis of the Group’s recent default data.  

 
Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and 
lifetime PD. These assumptions vary by product type. Refer to the Note below for an explanation 
of forward-looking information and its inclusion in ECL calculations.  
 
These assumptions underlying the ECL calculation – such as how the maturity profile of the PDs 
and how collateral values change etc. – are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis.  
 
There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made 
during the year. 
 

viii. Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL Models 
 
The calculation of ECL incorporate forward-looking information.  
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

viii. Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques (continued) 
 
In addition to the base economic scenario, the Group’s Credit risk team also provide other 
possible scenarios along with scenario weightings. The number of other scenarios used is set 
based on the analysis of each major product type to ensure plausible events are captured. The 
number of scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date. At 1 January 2022 
and 31 December 2022, for all portfolios the Group concluded that three scenarios representing 
the Downturn, Normal and Growth cases have been determined appropriate for capturing forward 
looking component in ECL. The scenario weightings are determined by a combination of 
statistical analysis and expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible outcomes 
each chosen scenario is representative of. The weightings assigned to each macro-economic 
scenario as at 31 December 2022, is as per the below table: 
 

Economic Scenarios 
Downturn Normal Growth 

50% 30% 20% 
 
The assessment of SICR is performed based on credit risk assessment following CBUAE rules 
and management assessment under each of the base, and the other scenarios, multiplied by the 
associated scenario weightings. This determines whether the whole financial instrument is in 
Stage 1, Stage 2, or Stage 3 and hence whether 12-month or lifetime ECL should be recorded. 
Following this assessment, the Group measures ECL as either a 12 month ECL (Stage 1), or 
lifetime ECL (Stage 2). These ECLs are determined by running each scenario through the 
relevant ECL model and multiplying it by the appropriate scenario weighting (as opposed to 
weighting the inputs). 
 
As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a 
high degree of inherent uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly 
different to those projected. The Group considers these forecasts to represent its best estimate of 
the possible outcomes. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

ix. Credit risk exposure 
 
Credit quality analysis 
 
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets, which are 
subject to ECL. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Group’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk on these assets: 
 

 2022 
 ECL staging 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        
Loans and advances         
Grading 1 868,600  42,796  -  911,396 
Grading 2 677,802  328,819  -  1,006,621 
Grading 3 -  1,404  116,256  117,660 
Grading 4 -  -  82,384  82,384 
Grading 5 -  -  327,126  327,126 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 1,546,402  373,019  525,766  2,445,187 
Loss allowance (22,617)  (49,365)  (372,057)  (444,039) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 1,523,785  323,654  153,709  2,001,148 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
Islamic financing and 

investing assets        
Grading 1 5,185  56  -  5,241 
Grading 2 5,579  2,949  -  8,528 
Grading 3 -  29  4,970  4,999 
Grading 4 -  -  998  998 
Grading 5 -  -  63,486  63,486 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 10,764  3,034  69,454  83,252 
Loss allowance (193)  (101)  (60,322)  (60,616) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 10,571  2,933  9,132  22,636 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

x. Credit risk exposure (continued) 
 
Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 

 2021 
 ECL staging 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        
Loans and advances         
Grading 1 1,466,141  330,818  -  1,796,959 
Grading 2 60,458  82,892  -  143,350 
Grading 3 -  -  151,070  151,070 
Grading 4 -  -  67,589  67,589 
Grading 5 -  -  334,848  334,848 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 1,526,599  413,710  553,507  2,493,816 
Loss allowance (20,387)  (28,562)  (362,602)  (411,551) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 1,506,212  385,148  190,905  2,082,265 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
Islamic financing and 

investing assets        
Grading 1 16,181  84  -  16,265 
Grading 2 133  4,578  -  4,711 
Grading 3 -  -  4,803  4,803 
Grading 4 -  -  982  982 
Grading 5 -  -  66,503  66,503 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 16,314  4,662  72,288  93,264 
Loss allowance (397)  (227)  (62,335)  (62,959) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 15,917  4,435  9,953  30,305 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

x. Credit risk exposure (continued) 
 

Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 
 

 2022 
 ECL staging 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        
Credit risk exposures 

relating to off-
balance sheet items 
are as follows        

Letters of credit 122  -  -  122 
Guarantees 497,584  6,578  945  505,107 
Loss allowance (5,099)  (757)  (581)  (6,437) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 492,607  5,821  364  498,792 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
Credit risk exposures 

relating to on-
balance sheet assets        

Cash and balances with 
the UAE Central 
Bank 

370,699  -  -  370,699 

Due from banks at 
investment grade 395,788  -  -  395,788 

Financial assets 
measured at 
amortised cost at 
investment grade 

-  -  -  - 

 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 766,487  -  -  766,487 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

x. Credit risk exposure (continued) 
 

Credit quality analysis (continued) 
 

 2021 
 ECL staging 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        

Credit risk exposures 
relating to off-
balance sheet items 
are as follows        

Letters of credit 1,971  -  -  1,971 
Guarantees 586,081  5,822  2,264  594,167 
Loss allowance (1,671)  (51)  (1,426)  (3,148) 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount 586,381  5,771  838  592,990 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
Credit risk exposures 
relating to on-balance 
sheet assets        

Cash and balances with 
the UAE Central Bank 157,844  -  -  157,844 

Due from banks at 
investment grade 444,043  -  -  444,043 

Financial assets 
measured at amortised 
cost at investment 
grade 1,847 

 

-  - 

 

1,847 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 

 603,734  -  -  603,734 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 

 
The Group employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common 
of these is accepting collateral for funds advanced. The Group has internal policies on the 
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The Group prepares a 
valuation of the collateral obtained as part of the loan origination process. This assessment is 
reviewed periodically. Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally 
secured; revolving individual credit facilities are generally unsecured. 
 
The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the 
reporting period and there has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral 
held by the Group since the prior period. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

x. Credit risk exposure (continued) 
 
Collateral against loans and advances measured at amortised cost is generally held in the form of 
mortgage interests over property, other registered securities over assets and guarantees. Estimates 
of fair value are based on the value of the collateral assessed at the time of borrowing. Collateral 
generally is not held over amounts due from banks, except when securities are held as part of 
reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity. Collateral usually is not held against 
financial assets. 
 
The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit impaired, 
as it becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of the collateral to mitigate potential 
credit losses. 
 
The table below details the fair value of the collateral, which is updated regularly:  
 

 
Loans and advances and 

investment products  
 2022  2021  
 AED’000  AED’000  
Against individually impaired loans and advances:     
Property  70,354  60,977  
Equities 70  2,096  
Cash 5,628  5,889  
Others 19,344    -  
 ------------------------  ------------------------  
Total against Individually impaired 95,396  68,962  
 ------------------------  ------------------------  
Against loans and advances not impaired:     
Property 675,279  764,811  
Equities 214,366  189,383  
Cash 259,774  354,661  
Others 2,479  28,812  
 ------------------------  ------------------------  
Total against not impaired 1,151,898  1,337,667  
 =============  =============  
 

xi. Loss allowance 
 
The loss allowance recognized in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described 
below: 
 
- Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or 3 due to financial instruments experiencing 

significant increases (or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, 
and the consequent “step up” (or “step down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL; 

- Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognized during the period, as well as 
releases for financial instruments derecognized during the year; 

- Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, 
arising from regular refreshing of inputs to models;  

- Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions; 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

xi. Loss allowance (continued) 
 
- Discount unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present 

value basis; and 
- Financial assets derecognized during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets 

that were written off during the period. 
 

The following table explain the changes in the loss allowance between the beginning and the end 
of the annual period due to these factors:  
 2022 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime  

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
 

Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

Loans and advances       

Loss allowance as at 1 January  20,387    28,562    362,602    411,551  
Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (225)  225  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (4,368)  -  4,368  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 1,616  (1,616)  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -  (4,837)  4,837  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 820  -  (820)  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  27,367  (27,367)  - 
New financial assets originated 2,551  2,408  -  4,959 
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance 

5,083  809  23,445  29,337 

Reversal of no longer required 
impairment charges 

 
(3,247) 

  
(3,553) 

  
(3,316) 

  
(10,116) 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs -  -  8,308  8,308 
        
 ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------ 
Loss allowance as at 31 December 

2022 
 

22,617 
  

49,365 
  

372,057 
  

444,039 
 ============= ============= ============= ============= 
Islamic financing and investing 
assets        
Loss allowance as at 1 January  397    227    62,335    62,959  
Transfers -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -  (34)  34  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated -  -  -  - 
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance 

32  7  1,070  1,109 

Reversal of no longer required 
impairment charges 

 
(236) 

  
(100) 

  
(3,116) 

  
(3,452) 

 ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------ 
Loss allowance as at 31 December 

2022 
 

193 
 

100 
 

60,323 
 

60,616 
 ============= ============= ============= =============
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

xi. Loss allowance (continued) 
 
 2021 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
 

Total 

 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

Loans and advances        
Loss allowance as at 1 January   12,161     41,961    325,132    379,254  
Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (61)   80    -     19  
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  270    (785)   -     (515) 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -     (19,467)   38,699    19,232  
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated  14    -     -     14  
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance 

 
 8,088  

  
 9,039  

  
 (656) 

  16,471  

Reversal of no longer required 
impairment charges 

 
 (85) 

  
 (2,266) 

  
 (573) 

  
 (2,924) 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Loss allowance as at 31 December 

2021 
 

 20,387  
  

 28,562  
  

 362,602  
  

 411,551  
 =============  =============  ============= ============= 
Islamic financing and investing 
assets        
Loss allowance as at 1 January  407    1,332    59,131    60,870  
Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (48)   56    -     8  
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -     (950)   2,051    1,101  
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated -  -  -  - 
Net remeasurement of loss 
allowance 

 
 61  

  
 (192) 

  
 1,153  

  
 1,022  

Reversal of no longer required 
impairment charges 

 
 (23) 

  
 (19) 

  
 -   

  
 (42) 

 ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------  ------------------------ 
Loss allowance as at 31 December 

2021 
 

 397  
  

 227  
  

 62,335  
  

 62,959  
 ============= ============= ============= ============= 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

xii. Gross carrying amount 
 
The following table further explains the changes in the gross carrying amount from 1 January to 
31 December 2022: 
 2022 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   
 12-month 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
  

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        
Loans and advances         
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2022 
 1,526,597    413,711    553,508    2,493,816  

Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (3,758)  3,758  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  (25,217)  -  25,217  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -  (17,126)  17,126  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2  -  52,808  (52,808)  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  7,959  (7,959)  -  - 
New financial assets originated  214,753  8,567  -  223,320 
Repayments during the year  (173,932)  (80,740)  (14,195)  (268,867) 
Reversal of no longer required 

impairment charges  -  -  (3,082)  (3,082) 
Gross carrying amount as at  

31 December 2022 
 

1,546,402 
  

373,019 
  

525,766 
  

2,445,187 
        
Islamic financing and investing 

activities  
   

 
 

 
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2022 
 16,314    4,662    72,288    93,264  

Transfers  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -  (138)  138  - 
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2  -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated  -  -  -  - 
Repayments during the year (5,550)  (1,490)  (2,972)  (10,012) 
Gross carrying amount as at  

31 December 2022 
 

 10,764 
  

3,034 
  

69,454 
  

83,252 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
xii. Gross carrying amount (continued) 

  
 2022 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   
 12-month 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
  

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

 
Cash and balances with the UAE 

Central Bank 370,699 
 

-  - 
 

370,699 
Due from banks at investment 

grade 395,788 
 

-  - 
 

395,788 
Financial assets measured at 

amortised cost at investment 
grade - 

 

-  - 

 

- 
 766,487  -  -  766,487 
 
There were no transfers between the stages during the year ended 31 December 2022. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  

 2022 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Off-balance sheet items        
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2022 
 

589,529 
  

5,771 
  

838 
  

   596,138 
Transfers -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated 8,655  973  108  9,736 
Repayments during the year (100,478)  (166)  (1)  (100,645) 
Other Movement -  -  -  - 
Gross carrying amount as at  

31 December 2022 
497,706  6,578  945  505,229 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

xii. Gross carrying amount (continued) 
 
 2021 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   
 12-month 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
  

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        
Loans and advances         
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2021 
  

1,522,765  
  

 515,139  
   

509,501  
  

 2,547,405  
Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (2,910)   11,570    -     8,660  
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -     (77,161)   77,186    25  
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1  21,863    (22,782)   -     (919) 
New financial assets originated  18,715    -     -     18,715  
Repayments during the year  (31,073)   (13,246)   -     (44,319) 
Other movements / write offs    (2,763)   948    (32,606)   (34,421) 
Reversal of no longer required 

impairment charges 
 -     (757)   (573)   (1,330) 

Gross carrying amount as at  
31 December 2021 

 
 1,526,597  

  
  413,711  

   
553,508  

  
 2,493,816  

        
Islamic financing and investing 

activities  
   

 
 

 
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2021 
 

 39,686  
  

 14,770  
  

 66,794  
  

 121,250  
Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2  (691)   757    -     66  
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3  -     (3,804)   4,102    298  
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated -  -  -  - 
Repayments during the year  (5,714)   (4,674)   -     (10,388) 
Other movements / Write offs  (16,967)   (2,387)   1,392    (17,962) 
Reversal of no longer required 

impairment charges -  -  -  - 
Gross carrying amount as at  

31 December 2021 
 

 16,314  
  

 4,662  
  

 72,288  
  

 93,264  
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 
xii. Gross carrying amount (continued) 

  
 2021 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   
 12-month 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
 Lifetime 

ECL 
  

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 

 
Cash and balances with the UAE 

Central Bank 157,844 
 

-  - 
 

157,844 
Due from banks at investment 

grade 444,043 
 

-  - 
 

444,043 
Financial assets measured at 

amortised cost at investment 
grade 1,847 

 

-  - 

 

1,847 
  

603,734 
  

- 
 

- 
 

603,734 
 
There were no transfers between the stages during the year ended 31 December 2021. 
 

Gross carrying amount as at  
31 December 2021 

 589,529   5,771    838   596,138  

        
  

 2021 
 Stage 1  Stage 2  Stage 3   

 
12-month 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  
Lifetime 

ECL  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Off-balance sheet items        
Gross carrying amount as at  

1 January 2021 
 722,668    13,344    32,130    768,142  

Transfers        
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2 -  -  -  - 
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -  -  -  - 
New financial assets originated  15,962    -     -     15,962  
Repayments during the year  (135,667)   (15)   -     (135,682) 
Other Movement  (13,434)   (7,558)   (31,292)   (52,284) 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 
 

xiii. Concentration of credit risk 
 
The Group monitors concentrations of credit risk by sector and by geographic location. An 
analysis of concentrations of credit risk from loans and advances, loan commitments, 
financial guarantees and investment securities is shown below 
 

Loans and advances 
Islamic financing and 

investing activities 
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
Sector AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
   
Construction 151,899 156,477 6,836 6,793 
Services 254,627 313,851 9,025 9,347 
Trade 197,454 239,332 1,534 652 
Real Estate 296,587 362,578 5,000 5,000 
Manufacturing 96,274 119,583 - 973 
Transport & Storage 37,766 8,389  -   - 
Others 1,410,580 1,293,606 60,857 70,499 
 2,445,187 2,493,816 83,252 93,264 
 

(c) Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations from 
financial liabilities. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, 
that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and 
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s 
reputation. Typically, the Group ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand to meet expected 
operational expenses, including the servicing of financial obligations; this excludes the potential 
impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural disasters. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
i. Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 

 
The table below summarizes the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31 
December 2022 based on contractual maturities. 
 

 
Less than 
3 months 

3 months 
to less 
than 1 

year 
1 year to 

5 years 
Over 5 

years  Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
ASSETS      

Cash and balances 
with U.A.E. Central 
Bank 370,699 - - - 370,699 

 

Due from banks and 
financial institutions  395,788 - - - 395,788 

Loans and advances 1,239,519 286,006 475,623 - 2,001,148 
Islamic financing and 
investing assets 15,887 960 5,789 - 22,636 

Investments, including 
associate 200,666 17,079 133,216 - 350,961 

Insurance receivables 
and contract assets 226,170 11,198 10,575 - 247,943 

Other assets 22,914 - - - 22,914 
Financial assets 2,471,643 315,243 625,203 - 3,412,089 
Non-financial assets - 84,446 109,769 6,705 200,920 
Total assets 2,471,643 399,689 734,972 6,705 3,613,009 
 
LIABILITIES      
Due to banks 30,059 - - - 30,059 

Customers’ deposits 
and margin accounts 1,564,210 339,902 156,562 - 2,060,674 

Short term borrowings 
and medium-term 
loans 116,667 231,667 58,333 - 406,667 

Unearned premiums 112,657 - - - 112,657 
Gross claims 
outstanding 91,669 - - - 91,669 

Lease liabilities - 537 - - 537 
Other liabilities 89,667 23,844 - - 113,511 
Financial liabilities 2,004,929 595,950 214,895 - 2,815,774 
Non-financial 
liabilities 27,677 - - 14,371 42,048 

Total liabilities 2,032,606 595,950 214,895 14,371 2,857,822 
 

Off balance sheet      
Contingent liabilities 458,406 32,181 14,642 - 505,229 
Commitments 4,249 - - - 4,249 
Total 462,655 32,181 14,642 - 509,478 
      



Finance House P.J.S.C 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

 

64 

5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
  

i. Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
(continued) 
 
The maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31 December 2021 was as follows: 

 
Less than 
3 months 

3 months 
to less 
than 1 

year 
1 year to 5 

years 
Over 5 

years  Total 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
ASSETS      

Cash and balances 
with U.A.E. Central 
Bank 157,844 - - - 157,844 

Due from banks and 
financial institutions  444,043 - - - 444,043 

Loans and advances 1,261,254 176,983 644,028 - 2,082,265 
Islamic financing and 
investing assets 23,556 960 5,789 - 30,305 

Investments, including 
associate 240,242 19,237 146,417 - 405,896 

Insurance receivables 
and contract assets 157,648 9,732 8,578 - 175,958 

Other assets 19,336 - - - 19,336 
Financial assets 2,303,923 206,912 804,812 - 3,315,647 
Non-financial assets - 77,046 102,760 6,705 186,511 
Total assets 2,303,923 283,958 907,572 6,705 3,502,158 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) 
  

i. Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
(continued) 
 
The maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities at 31 December 2021 was as follows: 
 
LIABILITIES      
Due to banks 26,720 - - - 26,720 

Customers’ deposits 
and margin accounts 673,975 592,567 449,843 - 1,716,385 

Short term borrowings 
and medium-term 
loans 107,510 267,733 166,667 - 541,910 

Unearned premiums 81,377 - - - 81,377 
Gross claims 
outstanding 82,982 - - - 82,982 

Lease liabilities - 1,105 - - 1,105 
Other liabilities 197,359 6,183 - - 203,542 
Financial liabilities 1,169,923 867,588 616,510 - 2,654,021 
Non-financial 
liabilities 24,372 - - 14,328 38,700 

Total liabilities 1,194,295 867,588 616,510 14,328 2,692,721 
 

Off balance sheet      
Contingent liabilities 546,508 33,273 16,357 - 596,138 
Commitments 4,249 - - - 4,249 
Total 550,757 33,273 16,357 - 600,387 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) 
  

i. Analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities 
(continued) 
 
The amounts in the table above have been compiled as follows: 
 

Type of financial instrument Basis on which amounts are compiled 
Non-derivative financial liabilities and financial 
assets 

Undiscounted cash flows, which include 
estimated interest payments 

Issued financial guarantee contracts and 
Contingent liabilities and commitments. 

Earliest possible contractual maturity. For issued 
financial guarantee contracts, the maximum 
amount of the guarantee is allocated to the 
earliest period in which the guarantee could be 
called. 

 
(e) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value and future cash flows of financial instruments will 
fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates, price 
of equity and fixed income securities. 
 
The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimising the return on risk. The Group separates its exposure to 
market risk between trading and banking book as defined below: 
 
Market risk arising from trading book 
 
Trading positions are held by the Treasury division, and include positions arising from market 
making and proprietary position taking, together with financial assets and liabilities that are 
managed on a fair value basis. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on these positions are 
reported in consolidated income statement. 
 
Market risk arising from banking book 
 
Market risk from banking book arises from execution of the Group core business strategies, 
products and services to its customers, that invariably create interest rate risk to the Group 
endeavors to manage through strategic positions to mitigate the inherent risk caused by these 
positions. 
 
Banking book includes all positions that are not held for trading such as but not limited to the 
Group’s investments in instruments designated at FVTOCI, loans and advances carried at 
amortised cost and other financial assets held for long term. 
 
These exposures can result from a variety of factors including but not limited to re-pricing of 
gaps in assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments and changes in the level and shape 
of market interest rate curves. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued) 
 
Risk identification and classification 
 
The Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) approves market risk policies for the Group. 
All business segments are responsible for comprehensive identification and verification of 
market risks within their business units. Regular meetings are held between market risk 
management and the heads of risk taking businesses to discuss and decide on risk exposures in 
the context of the market environment. 
 
Management of market risk 
 
The Board of Directors have set risk limits based on the Value-at Risk (VaR), which are closely 
monitored by the risk management division and reported regularly to the BRMC and discussed 
by ALCO.  
 
Market risk is identified, measured, managed and controlled by an independent risk control 
function. Market risk management aims to reduce volatility in operating performance and make 
the Group’s market risk profile transparent to senior management, the Board of Directors and 
Regulators. 
 
Risk measurement 
 
The following are the tools used to measure the market risk, because no single measure can 
reflect all aspects of market risk. The Group uses various matrices, both statistical and non-
statistical, including sensitivity analysis. 
 
Statistical risk measures 
 
The Group measures the risk of loss arising from future potential adverse movements in market 
rates, prices and volatilities using VaR methodology. The VaR that the Group measures is an 
estimate, using a confidence level of 99% of the potential loss that is not expected to be 
exceeded if the current market positions were to be held unchanged for one day. This 
confidence level suggests that potential daily losses in excess of the VaR measure are likely to 
be experienced, once every hundred days. The Board has set limits for the acceptable level of 
risks in managing the trading book. 
 
The Group uses simulation models to assess the possible changes in the market value of the 
trading book based on historical data. VaR models are usually designed to measure the market 
risk in a normal market environment and therefore the use of VaR has limitations because it is 
based on historical correlations and volatilities in market prices and assumes that the future 
movements will follow a statistical distribution. 
 
The VaR represents the risk of portfolios at the close of a business day and intra-day risk levels 
may vary from those reported at the end of the day. The actual trading results however, may 
differ from the VaR calculations and, in particular, the calculation does not provide a 
meaningful indication of profits and losses in stressed market conditions. 
 
The Group uses three major methods for calculation of VaR.  They are (1) Historical 
Simulation Method, (2) Parametric Approach and (3) Monte Carlo Simulation. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued) 
 
Allocation of assets and liabilities 
 
The following table sets out the allocation of assets and liabilities subject to market risk 
between trading and non-trading portfolios 
 
31 December 2022  Market risk measure 

 
Carrying 

amount 
Trading 
portfolio 

Non-
trading 

portfolio 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets subject to market risk    
Cash and balances with U.A.E. Central Bank 370,699 - 370,699 
Due from banks and financial institutions  395,788 - 395,788 
Loans and advances 2,001,148 - 2,001,148 
Islamic financing and investing assets 22,636 - 22,636 
Investments, including associate 350,961 58,832 292,129 
Insurance receivables and contract assets 247,943 - 247,943 
Interest receivable and other assets 107,360 - 107,360 
    
Liabilities subject to market risk    
Due to banks 30,059 - 30,059 
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts 2,060,674 - 2,060,674 
Short term borrowings and medium-term loans 406,667 - 406,667 
Unearned premiums 112,657 - 112,657 
Gross claims outstanding 91,669 - 91,669 
Lease liabilities 537 - 537 
Interest payable and other liabilities  141,188 - 141,188 
 
31 December 2021  Market risk measure 

 
Carrying 

amount 
Trading 

portfolio 

Non-
trading 

portfolio 
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 
Assets subject to market risk    
Cash and balances with U.A.E. Central Bank 157,844 - 157,844 
Due from banks and financial institutions  444,043 - 444,043 
Loans and advances 2,082,265 - 2,082,265 
Islamic financing and investing assets 30,305 - 30,305 
Investments, including associate 405,896 59,685 346,211 
Insurance receivables and contract assets 175,958 - 175,958 
Other assets 96,382 - 96,382 
    
Liabilities subject to market risk    
Due to banks 26,720 - 26,720 
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts 1,716,385 - 1,716,385 
Short term borrowings and medium-term loans 541,910 - 541,910 
Unearned premiums 81,377 - 81,377 
Gross claims outstanding 82,982 - 82,982 
Lease liabilities 1,105 - 1,105 
Other liabilities 235,685 - 235,685 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued) 
 

i. Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash 
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its 
interest-bearing assets and liabilities. 
 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the income statement to reasonably possible 
changes in the interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s result for the 
year. 
 
The sensitivity of the income statement is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on 
the Group’s profit for the year, based on the floating rate financial assets and liabilities held at 31 
December 2022. 
 
 Equity 
 1% increase 1% decrease
Cash flow sensitivity AED’000 AED’000
  
31 December 2022 737 (3,917)
 =============== ===============
31 December 2021 6,704 (5,553)
 =============== ===============
 

ii. Currency risk 
 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 
foreign exchange rates. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions 
are monitored on a daily basis and it is ensured these are maintained within established limits.  
 
Foreign currency risk is limited since a significant proportion of the Group's transactions, 
monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in U.A.E. Dirham and U.S. Dollar. As the U.A.E. 
Dirham is pegged to the U.S. Dollar, balances in U.S. Dollar are not considered to represent 
significant currency risk. Exposure to other currencies is insignificant to the overall Group. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(d) Market risk (continued) 
 
 

iii. Price risk 
 

Price risk is the risk that the fair values of equities and fixed income securities decrease as the 
result of changes in the levels of equity and fixed income indices and the value of individual 
instruments. The price risk exposure arises from the Group's investment portfolio. 
 

The following table estimates the sensitivity to a possible change in equity and fixed income 
markets on the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss. The sensitivity of the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in the reference 
equity and fixed income benchmarks on the fair value of investments carried at fair value through 
profit or loss. 
 Equity 
 5% increase 5% decrease 
 AED’000 AED’000 
31 December 2022   

Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss   
Abu Dhabi Securities Market Index 1,753 (1,753) 
Dubai Financial Market Index 1,188 (1,188) 
  
  
Investments carried at fair value through other 
comprehensive income 

 

Abu Dhabi Securities Market Index 5,001 (5,001) 
Dubai Financial Market Index 1,241 (1,241) 
Unquoted investments 2,257 (2,257) 
 ------------------------------ ------------------------------
Cash flow sensitivity 11,440 (11,440)
 =============== ===============
31 December 2021   
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss   
Abu Dhabi Securities Market Index 1,791 (1,791)
Dubai Financial Market Index 1,194 (1,194)
  
   
Investments carried at fair value through other 
comprehensive income   

Abu Dhabi Securities Market Index 6,617 (6,617)
Dubai Financial Market Index 1,640 (1,640)
Unquoted investments 2,298 (2,298)
 ------------------------------ ------------------------------
Cash flow sensitivity 13,540 (13,540)
 =============== ===============
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Operational risk 
 

(i) Overview 
 
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 
and systems or from external events. Operational risks can arise from all business processes and 
activities carried out by the Group and can expose the Group to potentially large losses, legal 
suits, regulatory criticism and reputational damage. 
 
The Group has established an independent Operational Risk Management (‘ORM’) function that 
forms part of the Risk Management Department. ORM is responsible for overseeing the 
operational risk framework at the organizational level to ensure the development and consistent 
application of operational risk policies, tools and processes throughout the Group and quarterly 
report on ORM is being regularly submitted to the Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC). 
The objective of the Group’s operational risk management is to manage and control operational 
risk in a cost-effective manner within targeted levels of operational risk consistent with well-
defined risk appetite. 
 
The Group has implemented a detailed Operational Risk Management Framework (‘ORMF’) in 
accordance with Central Bank of the UAE guidelines and industry best practices. The ORMF 
articulates clearly defined roles and responsibilities of individuals / units and committees across 
the Group involved in the management of various operational risk elements. The ORMF ensures 
that operational risks within the Group are properly identified, monitored, reported and actively 
managed. 
 

(ii) Three lines of defense 
 
The Group follows “Three Lines of Defense Model” to provide a simple and effective way to 
enhance communication on ORM and control by clarifying essential roles and duties. The model 
provides a fresh look at operations, helping to assure the ongoing success of ORM initiatives 
 
The three lines of defense are summarized below: 
 
The first line of defense owns the risks and is responsible for identifying, recording, reporting 
and managing them, and ensuring that the right controls and assessments are in place to mitigate 
them. 
 
The second line of defense sets the policy and guidelines for managing specific risk areas, 
provides advice and guidance in relation to the risk, and monitors the first line of defense on 
effective risk management. 
 
The third line of defense is the Group’s Internal Audit function, which provides independent and 
objective assurance of the adequacy of the design and operational effectiveness of the Group’s 
risk management framework and control governance process. 
 

(iii) Operational risk identification and management 
 
Typically, Operational Risk events includes the following:  
 
• Internal fraud: Risk of unauthorized activity and fraud perpetrated within the organization  
• External fraud: Risk of fraud or breach of system security by an external party  
• Employee practices and workplace safety: Risk of failures in employee relations, diversity 

and discrimination, and health and safety risks across the Group   
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(e) Operational risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Operational risk identification and management (continued) 
 
• Damage to physical assets: Risk of impact to the Group due to natural disasters including 

epidemic 
• Clients, Products and Business Practices: Risk of failing in assessing client suitability, 

fiduciary responsibilities, improper business practices, flawed products and advisory 
activities.  

• Business Disruption and System failures: Risk of not planning and testing business continuity 
and disaster  

• Execution delivery and process management: Risk of failed transaction execution, customer 
intake and documentation, vendor management and monitoring and reporting.  

 
The BRMC is an independent sub-committee of the Board of Directors (‘BOD’) and has the 
responsibility to ensure the effectiveness of Group’s ORMF. With context to Operational Risk 
Management, the BRMC assist the BOD in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, set the “tone 
at the top” and empower Senior Management to contribute to the effectiveness of Operational 
Risk in the Group. In order to effectively discharge its duties, the BRMC gets update on the 
progress of Operational Risk activities on a quarterly basis. 
 

(f) Insurance risk 
 
The principal risk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit 
payments or the timing thereof, differs from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of 
claims, severity of claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of long-term claims. 
Therefore, the objective of the Group is to ensure that sufficient reserves are available to cover 
these liabilities.  
 
The risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts 
and geographical areas. The variability of risks is also improved by careful selection and 
implementation of underwriting strategy guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance 
arrangements.  
 
In common with other insurers, in order to minimize financial exposure arising from large 
insurance claims, the Group, in the normal course of business, enters into arrangements with 
other parties for reinsurance purposes. Such reinsurance arrangements provide for greater 
diversification of business, allow management to control exposure to potential losses arising from 
large risks, and provide additional capacity for growth. A significant portion of the reinsurance 
is affected under treaty, facultative and excess of loss reinsurance contracts. 
 
To minimize its exposure to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Group evaluates 
the financial condition of its reinsurers and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from 
similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of the reinsurers. 
 
Credit Risk related to insurance business 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
in financial loss to the Group. 
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5 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(g) Insurance risk 
 
Credit Risk related to insurance business (continued) 
 
Key areas where the Group is exposed to credit risk related to insurance business are: 
• Re-insurers' share of insurance liabilities. 
• Amounts due from reinsurers in respect of claims already paid. 
• Amounts due from insurance contract holders. 
• Amounts due from insurance intermediaries. 
• Amounts due from banks for its balances and fixed deposits. 
 
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of 
its counterparties are continuously monitored, and the aggregate value of transactions concluded 
is spread amongst approved counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counter party limits 
that are reviewed and approved by the management annually. 
 
Re-insurance is used to manage insurance risk. This does not, however, discharge the Group's 
liability as primary insurer. If a re-insurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Group remains 
liable for the payment to the policy holder. The creditworthiness of re-insurers is considered on 
an annual basis by reviewing their financial strength prior to finalization of any contract. 
 
The Group maintains record of the payment history for significant contract holders with whom it 
conducts regular business.  The exposure to individual counterparties is also managed by other 
mechanisms, such as the right of offset where counterparties are both debtors and creditors of the 
Group. Management information reported to the Group includes details of provisions for 
impairment on insurance receivables and subsequent write offs. Exposures to individual policy 
holders and groups of policy holders are collected within the ongoing monitoring of the controls. 
Where there exists significant exposure to individual policy holders, or homogenous groups of 
policy holders, a financial analysis equivalent to that conducted for re-insurers is carried out by 
the Group. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of 
expected credit loss, represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk for such receivables 
and liquid funds. 
 

6 Fair value measurement 
 
While the Group prepares its financial statements under the historical cost convention modified 
for measurement to fair value of investments carried at fair value and investment properties, in 
the opinion of management, the estimated carrying values and fair values of financial assets and 
liabilities, that are not carried at fair value in the financial statements are not materially different, 
since assets and liabilities are either short term in nature or in the case of deposits and performing 
loans and advances, frequently repriced. For impaired loans and advances, expected cash flows, 
including anticipated realization of collateral, were discounted using the original interest rates, 
considering the time of collection and a provision for the uncertainty of the cash flows. 
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Fair value hierarchy: 
 
The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements: 
 
• Level 1: Quoted market price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument. 

Such instruments are valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available, and the price 
represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions. 

• Level 2: Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices).  This category includes instruments valued using quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar 
instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques 
where all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

• Level 3: Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.  This category includes 
all instruments where the valuation technique includes input not based on observable data 
and the unobservable input have a significant impact on the instrument’s valuation. This 
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments 
where significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences 
between the instruments. 

 
Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models.  Assumptions 
and inputs used in valuation techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit 
spreads and other inputs used in estimating discount rates. 
 
The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the 
price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. 
 
The Group uses widely recognized valuation models to determine the fair value of common and 
simple financial instruments and require little management judgement and estimation. 
Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for listed equity securities. 
Availability of observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgement and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair 
values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the products and 
markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and general conditions in the financial 
markets. 
 
If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or a liability fall into different levels of the 
fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorized in its entirety in the same 
level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire 
measurement. The Group recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the 
end of the reporting period during which the change has occurred. 
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
The following table shows the analysis of assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 
hierarchy as at 31 December 2022: 
 
  Level 1 Level 2  Level 3  Total 
  AED’000 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Assets measured at 
fair value      
      
Investment properties  - -  4,100  4,100 
  ------------------- -------------------  -------------------  ------------------- 
    
At fair value through 
profit or loss        
Quoted equities  58,832 -  -  58,832 
Quoted debt instruments  - -  -  - 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
  58,832 -  -  58,832 
  ========= =========  =========  ========= 
At fair value through other 
comprehensive income        
Quoted equities  129,779 -  -  129,779 
Quoted debt instruments  33,864 -  -  33,864 
Unquoted equities  - 11,294  33,849  45,143 
Investment in managed 
funds  - 730  -  730 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
  163,643 12,024  33,849  209,516 
  ========= =========  =========  ========= 
Assets for which fair value 
is disclosed        
Investment carried at 
amortized cost  - -  -  - 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
The following table shows the analysis of assets recorded at fair value by level of the fair value 
hierarchy as at 31 December 2021: 
 
  Level 1 Level 2  Level 3  Total 
  AED’000 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Assets measured at 
fair value      
      
Investment properties  - -  3,500  3,500 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
   
At fair value through 
profit or loss        
Quoted equities  59,685 -  -  59,685 
Quoted debt instruments  - -  -  - 
-  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
  59,685 -  -  59,685 
  ========= =========  =========  ========= 
At fair value through other 
comprehensive income        
Quoted equities  173,432 -  -  173,432 
Quoted debt instruments  37,003 -  -  37,003 
Unquoted equities  - 11,294  34,673  45,967 
Investment in managed 
funds  - 1,081  -  1,081 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
  210,435 12,375  34,673  257,483 
  ========= =========  =========  ========= 
Assets for which fair value 
is disclosed        
Investment carried at 
amortized cost  - -  1,847  1,847 
  ------------------ ------------------  ------------------  ------------------ 
 
The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities that are carried at amortized cost 
approximate to their carrying amount as disclosed in these financial statements. For the long-
term financial assets and liabilities, management does not expect to have a material difference 
between the carrying amount and the fair value. 
 
Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss 
 
Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss are listed equities and debt instruments 
in local as well as international exchanges. Valuations are based on market prices as quoted in 
the exchange. 
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income 
 
Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income, the revaluation 
gains/losses of which are recognized through equity, comprise long-term strategic investments 
in listed and unlisted equities, Tier 1 Capital instruments and private equity funds. Listed equity 
and Tier 1 Capital instruments valuations are based on market prices as quoted in the exchange 
while funds are valued on the basis of net asset value statements received from fund managers. 
For unquoted equities, the financial statements provide the valuations of these investments, which 
are arrived at primarily by using Price Earning Multiple basis valuation. The valuation requires 
management to make certain assumptions about the model inputs, including forecast cash flows, 
the discount rate, credit risk and volatility and price earnings multiples. The probabilities of the 
various estimates within the range can be reasonably assessed and are used in management’s 
estimate of fair value for these unquoted equity investments.  
 
Following is the description of the significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation of 
unquoted equities categorized under level 3 fair value measurement. 
 
 Valuation 

technique 
Significant 
unobservable inputs to 
valuation 

 
Sensitivity of the 
input to fair value 

     
Unquoted 
equities 

EV/EBITDA, 
EV/Revenue, PE 
and P/B 

Average of all four 
techniques 

 Increase / (decrease) in all 
four Multiples by 1 would 
result in increase / 
(decrease) in fair value by 
AED 383 thousand on 
average 

 
 
PE Multiple is derived from comparable companies. 
 
The effect of unobservable inputs on fair value measurement 
 
Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different 
methodologies or assumption could lead to different measurements of fair value. For fair value 
measurements in Level 3, changing one or more of the assumptions used to reasonably possible 
alternative assumptions would have the following effects. 
 
 Effect on OCI 

Cash flow sensitivity 
+1% 

Favourable 
-1%

(Unfavourable)
 AED’000 AED’000
31 December 2022  
Unquoted equities at fair value through OCI 459                    (459) 
 =============== ===============

31 December 2021  
Unquoted equities at fair value through OCI 470 (470)
 =============== ===============
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
Transfers between categories 
 
During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements. 
The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances 
for fair value measurement in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 
 

 
Unquoted equities at fair value through other 

comprehensive income 
 2022 2021
 AED’000 AED’000
  
Balance at 1 January 34,673 42,398
Gain / (Loss) in OCI (824) (3,868)
Disposals - (3,857)
 ----------------------------- -----------------------------
Balance at 31 December 33,849 34,673
 =============== ===============
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2022. 
 

 
Fair value through 

profit or loss 

Fair value through 
other comprehensive 

income 
Not measured at fair 

value  
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  
Assets    
Cash balances - -  8,407  
Due from banks - -  758,080  
Investment securities 58,832 209,516  -  
Loans and advances - -  2,001,148  
Islamic financing and investing assets - -  22,636  
Investment in associates - -  82,613  
Insurance receivables and contract assets - -  247,943  
Interest receivable and other assets - -  107,360  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------  
 58,832 209,516 3,228,187  
 ============= ============= =============  
Liabilities     
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts - - 2,060,674  
Due to banks and other financial institutions - - 30,059  
Short term borrowings - - 340,000  
Medium term loan - - 66,667  
Unearned premiums - - 112,657  
Gross claims outstanding - - 91,669  
Lease liabilities - - 537  
Interest payable and other liabilities - - 141,188  
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - 14,371  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------  
 - - 2,857,822  
 ============= ============= =============  
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6 Fair value measurement (continued) 
 
The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts as at 31 December 2021. 
 

 
Fair value through 

profit or loss 

Fair value through 
other comprehensive 

income 
Not measured at fair 

value  
 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  
Assets    
Cash balances - -  8,096  
Due from banks - -  593,791  
Investment securities 59,685 257,483  1,847  
Loans and advances - -  2,082,265  
Islamic financing and investing assets - -  30,305  
Investment in associates - -  86,881  
Insurance receivables and contract assets - -  175,958  
Interest receivable and other assets - -  96,382  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------  
 59,685 257,483 3,075,525  
 ============= ============= =============  
Liabilities     
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts - - 1,716,385  
Due to banks and other financial institutions - - 26,720  
Short term borrowings - - 441,910  
Medium term loan - - 100,000  
Unearned premiums - - 81,377  
Gross claims outstanding - - 82,982  
Lease liabilities - - 1,105  
Interest payable and other liabilities - - 235,685  
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits - - 14,328  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- -------------------------  
 - - 2,700,492  
 ============= ============= =============  
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7 Capital adequacy 
 
Capital management 
 
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group maintains 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business, to maximize shareholders’ value and to 
ensure that the Group complies with externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities. In order to maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment to shareholders or 
issue capital securities. No changes were made in the objectives, policies and processes from the 
previous years. 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Total capital base 820,758  841,069 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Risk weighted assets:    
Statement of financial position items 3,000,855  2,962,247 
Off statement financial position exposures 131,155  162,962 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Total risk weighted assets 3,132,010  3,125,209 
 =============  ============= 
Total assets ratio (%) 26.21%  26.91% 

 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 
8 Subsidiaries  

 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and the 
following subsidiaries: 
 

Name of subsidiary 
Country of 

incorporation 
Ownership interest 

% Principal activity 
  2022 2021  
Finance House L.L.C. U.A.E. 100 100 Financing services 
Insurance House P.S.C. U.A.E. 45.61 45.61 Insurance 
Finance House Securities 

Co L.L.C.   U.A.E. 70 70 Brokerage 
 

F H Capital P.J.S. U.A.E. 100 100 
Investment and asset 
Management 

F.H. Services U.A.E. 100 100 
 
Services 
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9 Segment information 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into three major business segments: 

 
(i) Commercial and retail financing, which principally provides loans and other credit 

facilities for institutional and individual customers. 
(ii) Investment, which involves the management of the Group’s investment portfolio and its 

treasury activities. 
(iii) Insurance, which involves one of the Group’s subsidiaries providing non-life insurance 

services. 
 
These segments are the basis on which the Group reports its primary segment information. 
Transactions between segments are conducted at rates determined by management taking into 
consideration the cost of funds.
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9 Segment information (continued) 
 
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below: 
   

31 December 2022 

Commercial 
and retail 
financing  Investment   Insurance  Others  Unallocated 

 

Total 
 AED’000  AED’000   AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
             
Interest income and income from Islamic financing 

and investing assets 
 160,992    8,444     1,801    22,080    -     193,317  

Interest expense and profit distributable to 
depositors 

 
 (24,949) 

   
(18,138) 

   
 -   

   
(11,982) 

  
 -   

   
(55,069) 

Net fee and commission income  12,040    -       -     6,271    -     18,311  
Net income from investment  -     12,363     -     -      -     12,363   

Net insurance premium earned  -     -       134,666   -      -     134,666  

Net commission paid  -     -       (89,712)   -      -     (89,712) 
Net insurance claims incurred  -     -       (5,634)   -      -     (5,634) 
Other underwriting income  -     -       (6,173)   -      -     (6,173) 

Net insurance income  -      -       33,147    -      -      33,147  
Share of results of an associate  -      (4,268)    -      -      -      (4,268) 
Other operating income  25,327    920     -      11    -      26,258  
Total segment revenue  173,410    (679)    34,948    16,380    -      224,059  

Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment  (7,414)   (194)    (1,365)   (181)   -      (9,154) 
Other expenses and charges  (39,934)   (2,578)    (37,958)   (10,024)   (65,338)   (155,832) 
Total expenses and other charges  (47,348)   (2,772)    (39,323)   (10,205)   (65,338)   (164,986) 
Profit / (loss) for the year before impairment  126,062    (3,451)    (4,375)   6,175    (65,338)   59,073  

Net impairment charges on loans and advances  (44,009)   -       -      -      -      (44,009) 
Net impairment reversal on Islamic financing and 

investing assets 
 5,721    -       -      -      -      5,721  

Net profit/(loss) for the year  87,774    (3,451)    (4,375)   6,175    (65,338)   20,785  

Segmental assets  2,036,687    769,275     459,832    347,215    -      3,613,009  
Segmental liabilities  2,027,239    488,060     308,624    33,899    -     2,857,822  
Additions to non-current assets during the year  12,917    1,516     1,113    17    -     15,563  
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9  Segment information (continued) 
, 
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented below: 
   

31 December 2021 

Commercial 
and retail 
financing  Investment   Insurance  Others  Unallocated  Total 

 AED’000  AED’000   AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
Interest income and income from Islamic financing 

and investing assets 
 

 160,726   
 

 4,066    
  

2,893   
  

13,260   
  

-   
  

 180,945  
Interest expense and profit distributable to 

depositors 
  

(30,014)  
  

(8,626)   
  

-    
 

 (5,109)  
 

 -   
   

(43,749) 
Net fee and commission income  12,423    -      -     3,440    -     15,863  
Net income from investment  -     25,008     -     -      -     25,008  

Net insurance premium earned -  -    129,840   -  -   129,840  
Net commission paid -  -    (9,705)  -  -   (9,705) 
Net insurance claims incurred -  -    (66,636)  -  -   (66,636) 
Other underwriting income -  -    (11,608)  -  -   (11,608) 

Net insurance income  -     -      41,891    -     -   41,891  
Share of results of an associate  -     (2,906)    -     -      -     (2,906) 
Other operating income  26,470    3     19    42    -     26,534  
Total segment revenue  169,605    17,545     44,803    11,633    -     243,586  

Depreciation of property, fixtures and equipment  (11,356)   (200)    (1,653)   (241)   -     (13,450) 
Other expenses and charges  (26,966)   (2,385)    (40,362)   (9,091)   (75,482)   (154,286) 
Total expenses and other charges  (38,322)   (2,585)    (42,015)   (9,332)   (75,482)   (167,736) 
Profit / (loss) for the year before impairment  131,283    14,960     2,788    2,301    (75,482)   75,850  

Net impairment charges on loans and advances  (13,450)   -      -     -      -     (52,892) 
Net impairment charges on Islamic financing and 

investing assets 
  

(154,286)  
  

-     
  

-    
  

-     
  

-   
   

(200) 

Net profit / (loss) for the year  (167,736)   14,960     2,788    2,301    (75,482)   22,758  

Segmental assets  1,924,585    846,543     385,659    345,371    -     3,502,158  
Segmental liabilities  2,070,692    144,012     231,483    254,305    -     2,700,492  
Additions to non-current assets during the year  15,881    652     1,565    465    -     18,563  
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9  Segment information (continued) 
 

(a) Products and services from which reportable segments derive their revenues 
 
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. The inter-
segment revenues and expenses have been eliminated in full.  
 
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments: 
 
• all assets are allocated to reportable segments.  Assets used jointly by reportable segments 

are allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and 
• all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments. Liabilities for which reportable segments 

are jointly liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets. 
 

(b) Geographical information  
 
The Group primarily operates in the U.A.E. (country of domicile).  
 

(c) Information about major customers  
 
There is no single customer accounting for more than 10% of the Group’s revenues from external 
customers. 
 

10 Net interest income and income from Islamic financing and investing assets  
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   

Loans and advances 179,845 172,201 
Income from Islamic financing and investing 

assets 3,791 3,663 
Due from banks 7,479 3,843 
Income from perpetual investments 848 1,013 
Other 1,354 225 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Interest income and income from Islamic 
financing and investing assets 193,317 180,945 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts (24,432) (24,959) 
Due to banks and other financial institutions (30,120) (17,636) 
Profit distributable to depositors (517) (1,154) 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Interest expense and profit distributable to 
depositors (55,069) (43,749) 

 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Net interest income and income from 
Islamic financing and investing assets 138,248 137,196 

 ============= ============= 
 

No interest or profit income is recognized on impaired loans and advances or on impaired Islamic 
financing and investing assets. 
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11 Net fee and commission income 
 
 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 
Fee and commission income from   
Credit cards related fees 6,896 8,859 
Corporate finance fees 10,465 9,617 
Letters of credit and letters of guarantees  4,192 6,068 
Other commission income 9,526 4,707 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
 31,079 29,251 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Fee expense on   
Credit cards and others (12,635) (13,388) 
Other fee expense (133) - 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
 (12,768) (13,388) 
 ------------------------ ------------------------ 
Net fee and commission income 18,311 15,863 
 ============= ============= 

 
12 Net investment income  

 
 2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 

Investments carried at fair value through profit or loss    
Gain on disposal  7,226  4,169 
Changes in fair value (3,821)  11,639 
Dividends 1,880  1,355 

 ------------------------  ------------------------ 
Net gain  from investments carried at fair value through 
profit or loss 5,285  17,163 
Income from investments carried at fair value through other 
comprehensive income    
Dividends 7,039  7,845 
Realized gain on disposal of investment carried at amortized 
cost 39  - 
 ------------------------  ------------------------ 
Net income from investments 12,363  25,008 
 ============  ============ 
 

13  Other operating income, net 
 
 2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Rental income from investment property 392  336 
Others 25,866  26,198 
 ------------------------  ------------------------ 
 26,258  26,534 
 ============  ============ 
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14 Salaries and employees related expenses 
 2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Basic salaries 30,668  29,469 
Cost of living allowance 17,862  11,732 
Employees outsourced  18,170  19,862 
Housing allowance 11,322  11,617 
Gratuity 2,386  1,688 
Others 29,153  28,478 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 

109,561  102,846 
=============  ============= 

 
15 General and administrative expenses 

 
 2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Lease expense 6,557  4,295 
Communication expenses 3,736  4,194 
Professional fees 3,330  6,222 
Repair and maintenance  2,304  2,484 
Advertising, maintenance and other expenses 30,339  34,222 

-------------------------  ------------------------- 
 46,266  51,417 
 =============  ============= 
 

16 Basic and diluted earnings per share  
 
Earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit for the year by the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share is determined by 
adjusting the net profit and the weighted average number of shares outstanding, for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares. As at 31 December 2022, the Group has not issued any 
instruments which dilutive impact on earnings per share would have when converted or 
exercised.  
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16 Basic and diluted earnings per share (continued) 
 
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the following data: 
 
 2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    
Profit for the year attributable to    
   equity holders of the parent  16,562  15,484 
Less: Tier 1 Sukuk coupon paid (16,907)  (17,008) 
Less: Proposed directors’ remuneration    (2,048)  (2,251) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 (2,393) (3,775) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Number of ordinary shares in issue (thousands) 302,838  302,838 
Less: Treasury shares  (20,157) (19,847) 
Less: Employees’ share-based payment scheme  (1,750) (1,750) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Weighted average number of shares (thousands) 280,931  281,241 
 =============  ============= 
Earnings per share (AED) (0.01)  (0.01) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 

 
17 Cash and cash equivalents  

  2022 2021 
  AED’000 AED’000 

 

Cash balances 
Cash on hand  8,407 8,096  
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Due from banks with original maturities of less  

than three months    
Placements with banks  110,504 65,245  
Call accounts  201,477 267,184  
Current and demand accounts  77,807 105,614  
Balance with UAE Central Bank  362,292 149,748  
Restricted cash balances*  6,000 6,000  
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
   758,080 593,791  
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Due to banks and other financial institutions with  

original maturity of less than three months  (30,059) (26,720)   
Other restricted cash balances*  (6,000) (6,000)   
  ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Net cash and cash equivalents  730,428 569,167  
  ============= ============= 
 
*Restricted cash represents deposits with CBUAE (formerly Insurance Authority) amounting to 
AED 6,000 thousand (2021: AED 6,000 thousand). 
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18  Investments 
 

 At fair value 
through other 

comprehensive 
income  

At fair value 
through 

profit or loss  

At 
amortized 

cost  Total 
 AED’000  AED’000  AED’000  AED’000 
        

2022        
Equity instruments:        
- Quoted * 129,779  58,832  -  188,611 
- Unquoted 45,143  -  -  45,143 
Debt instruments        
-Quoted-Fixed rate 33,864  -  -  33,864 
Unquoted investment 
   in managed funds 730  -  -  730 

 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 209,516  58,832  -  268,348 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 

 

       
Within UAE 204,776  58,832  -  263,608 
Outside UAE 4,740  -  -  4,740 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 209,516  58,832  -  268,348 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
2021        
Equity instruments:        
- Quoted * 173,432  59,685  -  233,117 
- Unquoted 45,967  -  -  45,967 
Debt instruments        

             -Quoted-Fixed rate 37,003  -  -  37,003 
 

Unquoted investment 
   in managed funds 1,081 

  
- 

  
1,847 

  
2,928 

 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 257,483  59,685  1,847  319,015 

 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Within UAE 251,624  59,685  -  311,309 
Outside UAE 5,859  -  1,847  7,706 

 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 257,483  59,685  1,847  319,015 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
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18 Investments (continued) 
 
The Group holds investments in Tier 1 perpetual instruments which are classified under quoted 
equity instruments amounting to AED 3,827 thousand (2021: AED 4,754 thousand).These 
instruments carry an average coupon interest/profit rate between 5.25%p.a. – 6.25% p.a (2021: 
5.25% p.a – 6.50% p.a).  
 
* Included in this balance investments in shares amounting to AED 74,570 thousand (2021: 
AED 100,276 thousand) in the name of related parties who has given the parent company full 
control to act as owner of these shares. 
 
During the year, the Group has redeemed investments on maturity carried at amortized cost of 
AED 1,847 thousand (2021: AED 3,673 thousand). 
 

19 Loans and advances  
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

 
Commercial loans  
Commercial overdraft 296,444 374,312 
Other commercial advances 1,651,728 1,644,104  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 1,948,172 2,018,416  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Retail finance 
 
Personal loans and advances 497,015 475,400 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 497,015 475,400  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Gross loans and advances 2,445,187 2,493,816  
Less: Allowance for impairment (444,039) (411,551)   
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Loans and advances 2,001,148 2,082,265  
 ============= ============= 
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19  Loans and advances (continued) 
 
The movement in the allowance for impairment during the year is as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   

At 1 January 411,551 379,052 
Impairment charges for the year 44,009 52,892 
Reversal of no longer required impairment charges (8,439) (8,309) 
Amount written off (3,082) (12,084)  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Balance at 31 December 444,039 411,551
 ============= ============= 
 
The allowance for impairment includes a specific provision of AED 372.1 million (2021 AED 
362.6 million) for stage 3 loans of the Group. 
 
In determining the recoverability of loans and advances, the Group considers any change in the 
credit quality of the loans and advances measured at amortised cost from the date credit was 
initially granted up to the end of the reporting period. The concentration of credit risk is limited 
due to the fact that the customer base is large and unrelated. 
 

20 Islamic financing and investing assets 
 
 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

 
Commodity Murabaha 55,543 61,752 
Covered card and drawings 17,411 20,673 
Ijarah 6,641 7,005 
Purchase and lease back   484 711 
Others 3,173 3,123 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Gross Islamic financing and investing assets 83,252 93,264 
Less: Allowance for impairment (60,616) (62,959)  
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Islamic financing and investing assets 22,636 30,305
 ============= ============= 
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20 Islamic financing and investing assets (continued) 
 
Islamic financing and investing assets are stated net of allowance for impairment. The movement 
in the allowance during the year is as follows: 
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 
   

At 1 January 62,959 60,869  
Impairment charges for the year  (5,721) 200 
Reversal no longer required (impairment charges)  - (245)   
Transfers 3,378 2,135 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
At 31 December 60,616 62,959 
 ============= =============== 
 
Allowance for impairment includes a specific provision of AED 60.3 million (2021 AED 62.3 
million) for stage 3 Islamic financing and investing assets of the Group. 
 
The gross Ijara and purchase and leaseback and the related present value of minimum Ijara and 
purchase and leaseback payments are as follows: 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Gross Ijara and purchase and lease-back    
Less than one year  6,447  5,187 
Between one and three years 1,816  3,491 
Between three and five years -  415 
 -------------------------  ----------------- 
 8,263  9,093 
Less: Deferred income  (1,138)  (1,377) 
 -------------------------  ----------------- 
Net Ijara and purchase and lease-back 7,125  7,716 
 =============  ============= 
 
Present value of minimum Ijara and purchase and leaseback payments 

 
  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Less than one year  5,428  4,171 
Between one and three years 1,697  3,019 
Between three and five years -  526 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 7,125  7,716 
 =============  ============= 
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21 Investment in equity accounted investee 
 
The Group has the following investment in associates 
 

 
Country of  

incorporation Percentage of holding 
Principal 
activity 

  2022 2021  
 
 

Mainland Management 
L.L.C. U.A.E 33.33% 33.33% 

Hospitality 
management 
services 

 
Empay LLC 

U.A.E 30% 30% 

Digital Payment 
Ecosystem & 
services 

 
Movement in investment in an associate is as follows: 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

At 1 January  86,881  89,788 
Share of results for the year (4,268)  (2,907) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
At 31 December 82,613  86,881 
 =============  ============= 
 
Summarized financial information of the associate is set out below: 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Associate’s statement of financial position    
Assets  222,161  222,163 
Liabilities (49,113)  (35,311) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Net assets 173,048  186,852 
 =============  ============= 
Group’s share of net assets 82,613  86,881 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Carrying amount of investment in an associate 82,613  86,881 
 =============  ============= 
Income statement    
Revenue -  1,089 
    
Loss for the year (13,804)  (9,563) 
 ============  ============= 
Group’s share of results for the year (4,268)  (2,906) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
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22 Interest receivable and other assets 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Accounts receivable  34,212  41,262 
Less: impairment allowance (1,634)  (1,433) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 32,578  39,829 
Prepayments 22,914  19,336 
Interest receivable and profit receivable 16,104  13,854 
Other assets 35,764  23,363 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 107,360  96,382 
 =============  ============= 
 

 
23 Insurance receivable and contract assets 
 
  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Insurance receivables 145,365  98,679 
Re-insurance contract assets 102,578  77,279 

 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 247,943  175,958 
 =============  ============= 

Insurance Receivables 
 
  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Due from policyholders 49,374  41,840 
Due from brokers and agencies 12,932  12,687 
Due from insurance and reinsurance companies 91,984  52,914 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 154,290  107,441 
Expected credit loss (9,110)  (9,110) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 145,180  98,331 
Refundable deposits and other advances 185  348 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
Premium and insurance balances receivables – 
   net 145,365  98,679 

 =============  ============= 
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23 Insurance receivable and contract assets (continued) 
 

Reinsurance share of outstanding claims 
 
  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Unearned premiums reserve 58,904  39,580 
Claims under settlement reserves 26,580  30,655 
Incurred but not reported claims reserve 17,094  7,044 

 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 102,578  77,279 
 =============  ============= 
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24 Property, fixtures and equipment  

 

  
  
  

Freehold 
Land 

 
Rights of 
use assets 

Building 

Furniture 
Fixtures 

and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Computer 
hardware 

and 
software 

Capital 
work-in-
progress 

 
 

Total 
  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 
Cost:                
At 1 January 2021  20,000 16,066 55,000  37,608  3,851  54,649  5,472  192,646  

Additions during the year - - - 95 189 3,780 14,311 18,375 
Reclassification / disposal  - (5,600) - 1,139 (1,139) - (488) (6,088) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
At 31 December 2021 20,000 10,466 55,000  38,842 2,901 58,429 19,295 204,933 

  ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
At 1 January 2022 20,000 10,466 55,000  38,842 2,901 58,429 19,295 204,933 
Additions during the year - 512 - 573 772 867 12,842 15,566 

Reclassification - - - - - - - - 

Disposal - (10,468) - - (575) - - (11,043) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
At 31 December 2022 20,000 510 55,000  39,415 3,098 59,296 32,137 209,456 
  ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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24 Property, fixtures and equipment (continued) 

 

  
  
  

Freehold 
Land 

 
Rights of 
use assets 

Building 

Furniture 
Fixtures 

and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

Computer 
hardware 

and 
software 

Capital 
work-in-
progress 

 
 

Total 
  AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000 AED’000  AED’000 AED’000 
Accumulated depreciation 
   

 
            

At 1 January 2021 - 10,945 3,360 36,821 2,293 45,079 - 98,498 

Charge for the year - 4,094 1,835 1,327 244 5,950 - 13,450 

Release on disposals - (5,783) - - (514) 22  (6,275) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 

At 31 December 2021 - 9,256 5,195 38,148 2,023 51,051 - 105,673 

  ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
At 1 January 2022 - 9,256 5,195 38,148 2,023 51,051 - 105,673 
Charge for the year - 1,358 1,833 535 422 5,006 - 9,154 

Release on disposals - (10,465) - - (575) - - (11,040) 

  ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- ----------------------- 
At 31 December 2022 - 149 7,028 38,683 1,870 56,057 - 103,787 
 Net book value: ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
At 31 December 2022 20,000 361 47,972 732 1,228 3,239 32,137 105,669 
  ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
At 31 December 2021 20,000 1,210 49,805 694 878 7,378 19,295 99,260 
  ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ 
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25 Intangibles 
 
 Goodwill 
 AED’000 
2022   
At 1 January 6,705  
 ------------------------- 
At 31 December  6,705  
 ============= 
2021   
Carrying value:   
At 1 January  6,705  

-------------------------  
At 31 December 6,705 

=============  
 
Goodwill 
 
Goodwill acquired through business combinations relates to Finance House L.L.C. (formerly 
known as Islamic Finance House P.J.S.C.) 
 
Impairment test of goodwill 
 
The Group performs impairment testing of the goodwill annually on 31 December.  
 
Goodwill has been allocated to the subsidiary as a cash-generating unit.  This represents the 
lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management 
purposes.  

 
26 Investment properties 

 
  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

At 1 January 3,500  7,925 
Reclassified during the year -  (4,425) 
Changes in fair value 600  - 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
At 31 December  4,100  3,500 
 =============  ============= 
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26  Investment properties (continued) 
 
Investment properties comprises a villa in Green Community, Dubai with a market value of AED 
4,100 thousand (2021: AED 3,500 thousand). 
 
An independent valuer for the valuation of this investment property adopts the comparable 
market value method in valuing the investment properties. This method calculates the value of 
the property by taking the market valuation of comparable properties, which reflects market 
sentiment and situation. The prime location, maintenance and occupancy levels are also 
considered. 
 
The net rental income recognised is AED 392 thousand (2021: AED 336 thousand) and is 
recognised in the consolidated income statement under ‘other operating income’. 
 
The fair value measurement for all the investment properties has been categorized as a level 3 
fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used. 
 

27 Customers’ deposits and margin accounts  
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

   
Call and demand deposits 704,292 364,502 
Time deposits 1,095,773 1,081,190 
Wakala deposits 15,990 13,543 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 1,816,055 1,459,235 
Margin accounts  244,619 257,150 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 2,060,674 1,716,385 
 ============= ============= 
 
Analysis of customers’ deposits by sector is as follows: 
 
By type: 
Government  127,250 384,874 
Corporate 1,933,424 1,331,511 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 2,060,674 1,716,385 
 ============= ============= 
 
Margin accounts represent cash margins collected from corporate customers against unfunded 
and funded credit facilities extended to them in the normal course of business.  
 
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts carry interest/profit rates ranging from Nil to 5.15% 
p.a (2021: Nil to 4.10% p.a). 
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28 Short term borrowings and medium-term loans 
 

Short-term borrowings 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

At 1 January 441,910  298,160 
Proceeds received 31,000  143,750 
Repayments (132,910)  - 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
At 31 December 340,000  441,910 
 =============  ============= 

 
 

Year of 
maturity 

2022 2021 

Loan 

 
Carrying 

amount 
Carrying 

amount 
 AED’000 AED’000 

     
Term loan 1 2023  150,000 150,000 
Term loan 2 2023  65,000 50,000 
Term loan 3 2023  60,000 60,000 
Term loan 4 2022  - 100,000 

 
These short-term borrowings carry variable interest rates ranging from 5.99 % p.a to 8.00% p.a 
(2021: 2.88 % p.a to 6.00%  p.a).  
 
Medium term loans  
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

At 1 January 100,000  25,000 
Proceeds received -  100,000 
Repayments (33,333)  (25,000) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
At 31 December 66,667  100,000 
 =============  ============= 
 

 
Short term borrowing and/or medium term loans are subject to financial covenants that are 
customary to credit facilities of such nature. 

  

Obtained  
In 

Matures 
in  

Approved 
facility line 
AED ‘000 Repayment schedule  Interest rate 

 
30 November 
2021 

 
2024 

 
100,000 

 
5 equal instalments of AED 16,667 
thousand plus interest and one final 
instalment (6th) covering the residual 
utilisation amount plus interest. 

 
3 months 
EIBOR + 
2.50% p.a. 
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29 Interest payable and other liabilities 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

Trade payables -  73,665 
Interest payable and profit payable 20,252  18,941 
Accrued expenses 27,677  24,372 
Transit account for payday accounts -  32,123 
Unclaimed cheques 4,820  10,912 
Other liabilities 88,439  75,672 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
 141,188  235,685 
 =============  ============= 
 
On 9 December 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance released the Federal Decree-Law No. 47 of 
2022 on the Taxation of Corporations and Businesses (the Law) to enact a Federal corporate tax 
(CT) regime in the UAE. The CT regime will become effective for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 June 2023.  
  
A rate of 9% will apply to taxable income exceeding a particular threshold to be prescribed by 
way of a Cabinet Decision (expected to be AED 375,000 based on information released by the 
Ministry of Finance), a rate of 0% will apply to taxable income not exceeding this threshold. In 
addition, there are several other decisions that are yet to be finalized by way of a Cabinet Decision 
that are significant in order for entities to determine their tax status and taxable income. Therefore, 
pending such important decisions, the Group has considered that the Law, as it currently stands, 
is not substantively enacted as at 31 December 2022 from the perspective of IAS 12 – Income 
Taxes. The Group shall continue to monitor the timing of the issuance of these critical Cabinet 
Decisions to determine their tax status and the application of IAS 12 – Income Taxes. 
 
The Group is currently in the process of assessing the possible impact on the consolidated financial 
statements, both from current and deferred tax perspective, once the Law becomes substantively 
enacted. 
 

30 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 
 

  2022  2021 
 AED’000  AED’000 
    

At 1 January 14,328  14,925 
Charge for the year 2,386  1,688 
Payments (2,343)  (2,285) 
 -------------------------  ------------------------- 
At 31 December 14,371  14,328 
 =============  ============= 
 

31 Share capital  
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

 
302.8 million shares (2021: 302.8 million shares)  

of AED 1 each (2021: AED 1 each)  302,838 302,838 
 ============= ============= 
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32 Treasury shares  
 
Treasury shares represent the cost of 26,354 thousand shares of the Company held by the 
Company as at 31 December 2022 (2021: 17,659 thousand shares). 
 

 2022  2021 

 
Number of 
shares ’000  AED’000  

Number of 
shares ’000  AED’000 

        
Share held by Finance House 

PJSC 26,354  46,535  17,659  29,823 
 -------------------------  -------------------------  -------------------------  ------------------------- 

 26,354  46,535  17,659  29,823 
 =============  =============  =============  ============= 
        
 

In the Annual general meeting dated 21 April 2021, shareholders have approved the write  
off  of 7,212,191 shares after obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals.  
 
During 2021, the Company has obtained regulatory approvals to undertake a share-buy program 
whereby the Company buys and sells its own shares in the normal course of its equity trading 
and marketing activities. These shares are treated as a deduction from shareholders’ equity. Gain 
and loss on sales or redemption of own shares are credited or charged to reserves. During 2022, 
a total of 8,695,156 shares (2021: 17,658,552 shares) were purchased back from the market at an 
average price of AED 1.92 (2021: AED 1.69) per share amounting to AED 16,711,915 (2021: 
AED 29,823,376). 
 

33 Employees’ share-based payment scheme 
 
The share-based payment scheme is administered by a trustee and gives the Board of Directors 
the authority to determine which employees of the Group will be granted the shares. The values 
of shares granted to employees are expensed in the period in which they are granted, and that of 
the remaining shares are included within shareholders’ equity. 
 
During the year, no shares were granted to employees and the value of outstanding shares not yet 
granted to employees as at 31 December 2022 were AED 1,750 thousand (2021: AED 1,750 
thousand). 
 

34 Statutory reserve 
 
In line with the provisions of the UAE Federal Commercial Companies Law No. 32 of 2021, and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company is required to transfer annually to a 
statutory reserve account an amount equivalent to 10% of its profit, until such reserve reaches 
50% of the share capital of the Company.  During the year the Group has transferred nil to the 
reserve (2021: AED 1,548 thousand). The statutory reserve is not available for distribution. 
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35 Tier 1 Capital Instruments 
 
In July 2015, the Company raised financing by way of Shariah compliant Tier 1 Capital 
Certificates amounting to AED 300 million (Tier 1 Sukuk). Issuance of these Capital Certificates 
was approved by the Company’s Extra Ordinary General Meeting (EGM) in April 2015. The 
UAE Central Bank has also approved the facility to be considered as Tier 1 capital for regulatory 
purposes. These Capital Certificates bear profit at a fixed rate payable semi-annually in arrears. 
The Capital Certificates are non-cumulative perpetual securities for which there is no fixed 
redemption date and are callable by the Company subject to certain conditions. Tier 1 Sukuk 
amounting to AED 23,800 thousand (2021: AED 23,800 thousand) are held by subsidiaries of 
the Group and, accordingly, eliminated in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 
payment of the coupon amounts on those instruments is solely at the discretion of the issuer at a 
coupon profit rate of ranging from 6.058% to 6.14%% p.a (2021:  6.058% to 6.14%%p.a). 
 
In March 2019 the subsidiary of the Company ‘Insurance House’ raised tier 1 perpetual bonds 
amounting to AED 15 Million. Issuance of these perpetual bonds was approved by the Extra 
Ordinary General Meeting (EGM) in January 2019. These perpetual bonds bear profit at a fixed 
rate payable semi-annually in arrears. The perpetual bonds are non-cumulative perpetual 
securities for which there is no fixed redemption date and are callable by the subsidiary subject 
to certain conditions. The payment of the coupon amounts on those instruments is solely at the 
discretion of the issuer at a coupon profit rate of 8.25% p.a. 
 

36 Commitments and contingent liabilities  
 
The Group provides letters of credit and financial guarantees on behalf of customers to third 
parties. These agreements have fixed limits and are generally for a certain period of time.  
 
Capital commitments represent future capital expenditures that the Group has committed to spend 
on assets over a period of time. 
 
Irrevocable commitments to extend credit represent contractual irrevocable commitments to 
make loans and revolving credits. 
 
The Group had the following commitments and contingent liabilities outstanding at year end: 
 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

   
Letters of credit 122 1,971 
Letters of guarantee 505,107 594,167 
Capital commitments 4,249 4,249 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
 509,478 600,387 
 ============= ============= 
All financial guarantees were issued in the ordinary course of business. 
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37 Related party disclosures 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In the case 
of the Group, related parties, as defined in the IAS 24, include major shareholders of the Group, 
directors and officers of the Group and companies of which they are principal owners and key 
management personnel.  
 
The year end balances in respect of related parties included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position are as follows: 

 2022 2021 
 AED’000 AED’000 

  
Loans and advances to customers    

To key management staff 1,041 1,967 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

To members of board of directors 35,045 48,059 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

To other related party 29,139 9,727 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

Customers’ deposits  
From other entities under common control 3,577 6,870 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 

 
Balances with related parties include loans granted to Directors and their related parties 
amounting to AED 35,045 thousand as at 31 December 2022 (2021: AED 48,059 thousand). 
Loans and advances to related parties are determined by management at agreed rates. 
 
Customers’ deposits and margin accounts carry fixed interest rate of nil% per annum to 0.75% 
per annum (2021: nil% per annum to 0.25% per annum). 
 
The significant transactions included in the consolidated financial information are as follows: 

  2022 2021 
  AED’000 AED’000 

Interest and commission income   
From key management staff 60 57 

 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
From members of board of directors 2,884 2,730 

 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Interest expense   

To others 289 245 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
Key management remuneration   

Short term benefits (salaries, benefits and bonuses) 15,047 12,299 
 ------------------------- ------------------------- 
During the year the Group paid directors’ remuneration AED 2,251 thousands (2021: AED 
1,957 thousands) and proposed directors’ remuneration AED 2,048 thousands (2021: AED 
2,251). 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties 
 
The above-mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business. The 
interest rates charged to and by related parties are at agreed rates. Outstanding balances at the 
year-end are unsecured. There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party 
receivables or payables. 
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38 Legal proceedings 
 
The Group is involved in various legal proceedings and claims arising in the ordinary course of 
business. While the outcome of these matters cannot be predicted with certainty, management 
does not believe that these matters will have a material adverse effect on the Group’s consolidated 
financial information if disposed unfavorably. 
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Finance House PJSC is an Abu Dhabi - headquartered company that was 
established on 13 March 2004 and commenced its operations on 18 July 2004 
as a Finance Company. The principal activities of the Company were commer-
cial and retail financing, financial services and investments until 30 June 2023. 
As of 1 July 2023, Finance House PJSC ceased to operate as a Finance Company 
and has become a Holding Company whose main purposes are purchasing 
and owning shares in other companies as well as providing Share Registrar 
Services.  The major shareholders of Finance House P.J.S.C. include a number 
of prominent UAE businessmen, high net worth individuals and dignitaries.

Finance House P.J.S.C. is listed on the Abu Dhabi Exchange under the ticker 
symbol FH and is categorized as a “Grade One” company by the Emirates Secu-
rities & Commodities Authority (SCA). 

INTRODUCTION
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Finance House PJSC recognizes that a well-considered and established Corporate 
Governance Framework facilitates effective decision making and builds a strong 
relationship with stakeholders through a transparent structure that supports 
high quality disclosures. Finance House P.J.S.C. is committed to achieving best 
practices in corporate governance, business integrity and professionalism. Its 
Board-approved Corporate Governance Framework is aligned with the company’s 
strategic objectives and reflects applicable regulatory guidelines, including those 
of the Securities & Commodities Authority (“SCA”). 

Finance House P.J.S.C. has accordingly developed a Corporate Governance 
Framework and a supporting Corporate Governance Policy that is designed to 
meet this requirement. A strong governance framework is only as good as the 
people who operate it. The culture in which we operate supports our commit-
ment to adopting the spirit of the laws and regulations that govern Finance 
House P.J.S.C. Our corporate values define the way we conduct our business. We 
strive to lead by example in demonstrating good corporate governance and rec-
ognise the importance of effective governance to our owners, our customers, em-
ployees and to our communities.

Finance House P.J.S.C.’s Corporate Governance protocols are overseen by the 
Board, which directs the Company’s affairs and works closely with executive man-
agement to set the strategic objectives. The Corporate Governance Policy put in 
place provides a clear mandate and expectations around how Finance House 
P.J.S.C. will govern its business. It also has a closely monitored delegation of 
authority matrix that supports the need for independence in decision-making 
and escalation of reporting, clearly articulated individual and collective account-
abilities; and compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

Corporate 
Governance Philosophy

15



INTRODUCTION
Pursuant to Finance House 
P.J.S.C.’s Articles of Association 
and in accordance with the 
applicable UAE Laws & Regula-
tions, the Finance House P.J.S.C. 
Board of Directors consists of 
Seven (7) members. The compo-
sition of the Board satisfies the 
generally acceptable Corporate 
Governance practice relating to 
the separation of Chair and 
Group Chief Executive and the 
membership of Non-Executive 
Directors. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

In addition to this, the Nomination Committee monitors the Directors’ external 
Board memberships to ensure that they are not in competition with Finance 
House P.J.S.C. or the Directorships are not of a nature that might affect the Direc-
tor’s ability to exercise independent judgment. In accordance with SCA require-
ments, Finance House P.J.S.C. introduced a declaration form for each Director to 
(i) confirm his total directorships held are within the limits permitted, that (ii) 
he/she has sufficient time to carry out his duties as a board member, and (iii) 
his/her outside interests do not create a conflict of interest with his role at Finance 
House P.J.S.C.

The Board is headed by a Non-Executive Chair who is elected from among its 
members. The Chair has authority to act and speak for the Board, including 
engaging with the Senior Management. The Chair has a pivotal role in ensuring 
that the Board is updated on decisions and actions taken between meetings of 
the Board. The Chair also has oversight of the agenda, ensuring that it reflects the 
strategic nature of the Board’s work. 

16



RESPONSIBILITIES

The Chair is a key ambassador for Finance House P.J.S.C., particularly in its interac-
tion with shareholders. Directors are appointed for a term of three (3) years. At the 
end of this period, the Board is reconstituted.

Members, whose term of office is completed, are eligible for re-election. The 
Board may appoint members to fill vacant offices on the Board, provided that the 
appointment is presented to the first General Assembly following appointment 
for approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the shareholders.

The Board reviews its current membership regularly to ensure that it has the right 
mix of skills, diversity and expertise who collectively possess qualifications com-
mensurate with the size, complexity and risk profile of Finance House P.J.S.C., and 
experience to make effective decisions and staff Board Committees appropriately.

We are also ensuring female presence in board of directors’ composition. The 
Nomination Committee Charter reflects the requirement that a ratio of minimum 
one (1) member from a total of Seven (7)  Board Members should be female.

The Board of Finance House P.J.S.C. has overall responsibility for directing the 
Company’s affairs, to create and preserve value through the operations, and to 
consider the shareholders and other stakeholders’ interests. The Board, either 
directly or through its committees, is responsible for oversight in different areas 
such as strategic planning, defining risk appetite, the identification and manage-
ment of risk, capital management, fostering a culture of integrity, internal con-
trols, succession planning and evaluation of senior management, communica-
tion, public disclosure and corporate governance.

The roles and responsibilities are documented in a Board Charter and associated 
policies. The Board is also subject to a comprehensive Code of Conduct, which 
reflects the Board’s role in setting the tone for the conduct of the whole organiza-
tion. 
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The key activities of the Board are as follows:

 
 
 Review financial performance in light of the strategy, long term objectives and 
budget, ensuring that where necessary corrective action was taken; including:

Approve and monitor FINANCE HOUSE PJSC strategy and long term 
objectives, ensuring alignment with the Finance House’s risk appetite and 
the risk management framework.

In addition, an independent compliance function is established to ensure the 
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The compliance officer was 
appointed by the Board of Directors and is granted sufficient independence to 
perform the duties in relation to the following:

A. Regulatory Compliance,
B. Financial Crime Compliance, and
C. Relationship with Regulators and Stakeholders.

•
•
•

Approval for unbudgeted capital or operating expenses
Approval for material changes to internal organizational structure
Approval for major projects that are essential for the overall operation
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 The Board of Directors held the following meetings

during 2023:

Board of 
Directors Meetings

 

Board Members

Mr. Khaled Abdulla
Jumaa Alqubaisi

Mr. Mohamed Abdulla
Jumaa  Alqubaisi

Mr. Ahmad Obaid
Humaid Al Mazrooei

Mr. Abdulla Ali Ebrahim
Al Saadi

Mr. Abdulmajeed Ismail
Ali Abdulrahim Alfahim

Mrs. Alia Abdulla
Mohamed AlMazrouei

Mr. Murtadha Mohamed
Sharif Alhashmi

Absent Attended 

Mr. Salah Salem Ebrahim
Alsaman Alnuaimi

(Via Proxy) (Via Proxy)

(Via Proxy)

(Via Proxy)

(Via Proxy)(Via Proxy)

Newly Elected
Member

(Via Proxy)

(Via Proxy)(Via Proxy)

(Via Proxy)(Via Proxy)

Meeting number
and date

Meeting 1
26/01/23

Meeting 2
14/02/23

Meeting 3
12/05/23

Meeting 4
11/07/23

Meeting 5
14/08/23

Meeting 6
13/11/23

Meeting 7
21/12/23

Not Elected
Yet

Not Elected
Yet

No Longer a
Board Member

No Longer a
Board Member

No Longer a
Board Member

No Longer a
Board Member

No Longer a
Board Member
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Khaled Abdulla
Jumaa Alqubaisi
Chairman of the Board of Directors
Non Independent/Non-Executive
Member since 24 Dec 2009
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)

Overview

External appointments
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

National Central Cooling Company PJSC (Tabreed) – Chairman
Insurance House PJSC – Board Member 
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications Company PJSC (DU) – Board Member
Abu Dhabi Investment Council Company PJSC – Board Member
Mubadala Investment Company – Senior Advisor to the Management Director 
Abu Dhabi Racing – Vice Chairman
Abu Dhabi Global Market – Board Member
Connect Infrastructure Topco Limited – Board Member

Mr. Khaled has over 20 years in various sectors, including investments, aviation 
industry, defense industries, information and communications technology, and 
clean energy.  He holds a Master degree in Project Management from George 
Washington University and a Bachelor in Finance and Operations Management 
from Boston University, USA. 
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Mohamed Abdulla
Jumaa Alqubaisi
Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors
Non Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since Inception
Member of Board Nomination Committee
Chairman of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Chairman of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC) 

Overview

External appointments
•
•
•

Insurance House PJSC – Chairman
The National Investor Pr.JSC – Board Member
FH Capital P.J.S – Board Member 

Mr. Mohamed has over 35 years’ experience in banking and corporate 
management with tier 1 UAE financial institutions including NBAD and ADIB.  He 
holds a Bachelor of Science from the University of Austin / Texas, USA.
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Ahmad Obaid
Humaid Almazrooei 
Member of the Board of Directors
Non Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since Inception
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)

Overview

External appointments
•
•
•
•

Ex-Board Member of Tunis & Emirates Bank in Tunis 
Ex-Board Member of the Arab International Bank in Cairo 
Ex-Board Member in the Abu Dhabi Investment Company 
Ex-Board Member of Emirates Global Company’s Corporation (EGCC) 

Mr. Ahmed has over 40 years’ experience in investments with the last position held 
as Deputy Director, Alternative Investment Department - Abu Dhabi Investment 
Authority (ADIA). 
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Abdulla Ali
Ebrahim Al Saadi 
Former Member of the Board of Directors
(No longer a Board Member since the General
Assembly’s latest Board Elections on 24 March 2023).
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Abdulmajeed Ismail
Ali Abdulrahim Al Fahim 
Member of the Board of Directors
Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since 9 Mar 2017
Chairman of Board Audit Committee
Chairman of Board Nomination Committee
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)

Overview

External appointments
•
•
•
•
•
•

Insurance House PJSC – Board Member
FH Capital PJS – Chairman
Emirates National Petroleum Company Pr.JSC – Vice Chairman
Al Marjan Investments and Development LLC – Chairman
SANBAN Business Commercial Investments LLC – Chairman
UNII Engineering Consultancy LLC – Chairman

Mr. Abdulmajeed has over 30 years’ experience in senior management of 
large-scale and world-class investment and development projects. He holds a 
Master Degree of Business Administration in Finance from the University of Toledo 
in Ohio, USA. 
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mrs. Alia Abdulla
Mohamed Almazrouei 
Member of the Board of Directors
Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since 22 Mar 2018
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)

Overview

External appointments
•
•

Insurance House PJSC – Vice Chairman 
Khalifa Fund for Enterprise Development – CEO

Mrs. Alia has over 15 years in several establishments and holds a Bachelor of 
Information Systems Management & Master of Business Administration.
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Murtadha Mohamed
Sharif Alhashmi
Member of the Board of Directors
Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since 22 Apr 2020
Member of Board Nomination Committee
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)

Overview

External appointments
• Insurance House PJSC – Board Member

Mr. Murtadha served as CFO of Abu Dhabi National Oil Company (ADNOC) and the 
International Petroleum Investment Company (IPIC) and held several positions on 
the Board of Directors of several International Oil companies, Banks, Investment 
Companies, Retail and Automotive sectors. He holds a Bachelor's degree in 
Accounting and Information Systems from the United Arab Emirates University.
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. Salah Salem Ebrahim
Alsaman Alnuaimi
Member of the Board of Directors
Independent/Non-Executive
Member Since 24 March 2023
Member of Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)
Member of Board Investment and Credit Committee (ICC)
Member of Board Audit Committee

Overview

Mr. Salah has a wealth of experience in portfolio management gained at Abu Dhabi 
Investment Authority. He is an alma mater of Hull University with a Master’s degree 
in business administration.  
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Board of Directors and  
Executive Management 

Mr. TK Raman 
Chief Executive Officer

Overview

Mr. Raman joined Finance House P.J.S.C. in 2006 as its Chief Operating Officer. He 
has over 40 years of professional experience across banking, financial services, 
accounting and auditing, including 37 years in the UAE. Prior to joining Finance 
House P.J.S.C. he held several senior executive positions with MasterCard 
International, UNB, National Bank of Abu Dhabi, Baker Production Services, Ernst & 
Young and Price water House Coopers.

External appointments
• FH Capital PJS – Managing Director
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Board Audit Committee (BAC)

The Board Audit Committee (BAC) ensures the quality and integri-
ty of financial statements, and financial reporting, oversight of the 
Group Internal Audit function, External Auditors and other assur-
ance providers, and assesses the effectiveness of internal control, 
risk management and governance systems. 

The BAC consists of three (3) non-executive independent mem-
bers of the Board. The BAC collectively possesses sufficient knowl-
edge and relevant industry experience on audit, risk manage-
ment, regulatory compliance, governance, controls, information 
security and technology. 

The BAC is responsible for overseeing the Group’s processes and 
controls on financial reporting and disclosures, internal control 
system, governance and risk management framework, Group 
Internal Audit function, appointment and performance of statuto-
ry External Auditor.

In 2023, the BAC met quarterly and in accordance with the 
approved BAC Charter and no financial rewards or allowances are 
paid for attending the BAC meetings.

The BAC was briefed on the achievements and contributions of 
the Group Internal Audit function including important approvals 
and other discussions. 

Board committees play a crucial part in the decision making process and they help 
support the Board in the execution of its responsibilities. These specialized commit-
tees help share the Board’s workload and the detailed involvement of Board mem-
bers allows them to get closer to the business, its activities and the existing control 
framework. Relevant matters are referred by these committees to the Board. Finance 
House P.J.S.C. board committees are:

Introduction

BOARD COMMITTEES 
(INTRODUCTION, CHARTERS AND MEMBERSHIP)
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Nomination Committee (NC)

The NC oversees the composition of the Board of Directors and 
succession planning for Finance House PJSC Executive Manage-
ment and review the Board of Directors structure and submitting 
recommendations regarding the changes that may be made.

The NC comprises of three (3) non-executive board members.

In accordance with the approved charter, the NC met one time 
during 2023 and no financial rewards or allowances are paid for 
attending the meeting.

Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC)

The BRMC ensures the effectiveness of Finance House P.J.S.C. risk 
management and compliance frameworks and provides oversight 
and advice to the BOD in relation to current and potential future 
risk. The BRMC comprises of seven (7) non-executive board mem-
bers.

In accordance with the approved charter, the Committee met four 
(4) times during the year 2023 and no financial rewards or allow-
ances are paid for attending the meetings.

Investment & Credit Committee (ICC)

The ICC to ensures that all business projects and programs being 
delivered within the portfolio are aligned to the strategy of 
Finance House P.J.S.C. The ICC comprises of seven (7) Non-Execu-
tive Board members.

In accordance with the approved charter, the Committee meets 
twice (2) each month and no financial rewards or allowances are 
paid for attending the meetings.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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The charters are included in Finance House P.J.S.C. Corporate Governance Frame-
work. The charters provide details of the roles and responsibilities of each of the 
committees along with the frequency of meetings, quorum requirements for 
each committee, membership details and the Chair, Vice-Chair and Secretary of 
the Committee.

Charters

*1 Mr. Al Saadi is no longer a Board Member since the Board Elections of 24 March 2023.
*2 Mr. Alnuaimi is the new elected Board Member as of 24 March 2023. 

Board Committee Membership
 

Mr. Khaled Abdulla
Jumaa Alqubaisi Member

Chairman

Member

Member

Member

Member

Member

Chairman

Member

Member Chairman Chairman

Member

Member Member Member

Member

MemberMember

Member -

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Mr. Mohamed Abdulla
Jumaa Alqubaisi

Mr. Ahmad Obaid
Humaid Al Mazrooei

Mr. Abdulmajeed Ismail
Ali Abdulrahim Alfahim

Mrs. Alia Abdulla
Mohamed AlMazrouei

Mr. Murtadha Mohamed
Sharif Alhashmi

Mr. Salah Salem Ebrahim
Alsaman Alnuaimi*2

Name BRMC ICC Audit Nomination

Membership details of the Board Committees are set out below:
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Grant Thornton Audit and Accounting Limited (Grant Thornton UAE), one of the 
top 10 audit firms worldwide, was approved to be the external auditor for auditing 
and reviewing the financial statements of the Company at the Annual General 
Assembly meeting held on 24/03/2023 for a total fees of AED 220,000 per annum 
until the end of the financial year 31/12/2023.

External Auditor Appointment and Fees
External Auditor

Independent review/audit opinions were expressed by the Company’s External 
Auditor on the interim and annual financial statements for the year ended 31 De-
cember 2023.

External Audit Opinion

 

Name of the partner auditor

Number of years served as an external auditor
for the Company

The number of years that the partner auditor
spent auditing the company's accounts

Total fees for auditing the financial statements
of 2023(AED)

Details and nature of other services provided
(if any). If there are no other services, this matter
shall be stated expressly.

Statement of the other services performed by an
external auditor other than the Company’s auditor
in 2023 (if any). In the absence of another external
auditor

Fees and costs of the special services other than
auditing the financial statements for 2023 (AED),
if any, and in case of absence of any other fees,
this shall be expressly stated.

Samer Hijazi

1 Year

1 Year

AED 220,000

Nil

No services were provided by any
other external auditor during 2023
other than Grant Thornton UAE.

Nil
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In addition to the Board Code of Conduct, Finance House P.J.S.C. has a compre-
hensive employee Code of Conduct that applies to directors, employees and sub-
sidiaries of Finance House P.J.S.C. The Code of Conduct defines inappropriate 
behaviour and the process and outcomes for the identification and reporting of 
such behaviour. To ensure effective understanding and implementation of our 
codes of conduct and other compliance requirements, we have dedicated help 
desks and compliance team that employees can engage with to answer ques-
tions. Any person who fails to comply with the Code and all applicable laws is sub-
ject to disciplinary measures that commensurate with the level of breach. 

Finance House P.J.S.C. has a number of functions committed to engagement and 
communication with external stakeholders. These include Investor Relations, Cor-
porate Communications, Regulatory Compliance and Corporate Governance. In 
addition, internal transparency and disclosure is considered from operational, 
ethical and regulatory perspectives, ensuring that staff are aware of Finance 
House P.J.S.C. developments, strategies, risks and their personal responsibilities 
and duties, whilst protecting customer and personal data confidentiality, sensi-
tive information and confidential commercial information. These are embedded 
in the Employee Code of Conduct and Finance House P.J.S.C. systems.

Stakeholders, both internal and external to Finance House P.J.S.C. also have 
access to a Whistleblowing helpline that provides an independent and secure 
means for stakeholders to raise concerns or complaints regarding irregularities, 
suspected fraud and other alleged wrongful conduct in a confidential manner 
without fear of retaliation. This strengthens our culture of transparency and trust 
within Finance House P.J.S.C. Our supporting policy provides guidance on when 
to blow the whistle and explains the mechanisms for reporting a concern, and 
how that concern will be investigated. The helpline is confidential and indepen-
dent to ensure the protection of whistle-blowers.

Business Ethics 

Business Ethics 
And Transparency
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As matter of transparency, Finance House P.J.S.C. would like to disclose the 
following fundamental financial information & remunerations:

Transparency

Total remuneration paid in 2023 to the members of the board of directors for the 
year 2022 was AED 1,656,000. The remuneration of the Board of Directors for the 
year 2023 is subject to the bottom line that to be audited by external auditors. The 
annual audit for the year 2023 is to be concluded.

In addition to allocation approved by General Assembly of monthly remuneration 
to Board Member of AED 126,000 due to special efforts and additional work to 
serve the Company beyond normal duties as member of Company’s Board of 
Directors.

Board Members’ remunerations:

Transactions conducted with related parties:
The year end balances in respect of related parties are as follows:

Transactions equal to 5% or more of the share capital

 
Transactions with related parties

Loans and advances

Customers’ deposits

Interest and Commission Income

Interest Expense

Key Management Remuneration

Value of transaction in AED (000)

0

0

37,753

4,003

9,065

 

1

2

3

4

Finance House Securities

FH Capital

Insurance House

Finance House LLC

Statement of the
related parties# Clarifying the nature

of the relationship Type of transaction Value of transaction
in AED (000)

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Loan & Advances

Deposit

Deposit

Deposit

0

0

0

0
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Finance House P.J.S.C. is committed to advancing its Environmental, Social, and 
Governance (ESG) objectives. Our primary goal is to integrate sustainable 
practices across our operations, investment decisions, and community 
engagements. By promoting transparency, responsible lending, and proactive 
ESG initiatives, we aim to contribute positively to the environment, nurture social 
well-being, and uphold high governance standards, fostering long-term 
resilience and value for our stakeholders and the broader community.

As Finance House P.J.S.C. navigates its ESG strategy into a new era, it is crucial to 
recognize the progress we have achieved. 

The following provides a thorough overview of our accomplished and ongoing 
ESG initiatives, categorized based on the respective pillars.

OUR APPROACH

CODE OF
CONDUCT

ANTI-MONEYLAUNDERING

DATA LEAKAGE

PREVENTION
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OUR ESG ACHIEVEMENTS: 
A YEAR IN REVIEW
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Finance House embarks on a journey into one of the cores of ESG – the 

'Environment.' Delve into its pivotal role, serving as the cornerstone for fostering a 

responsible and resilient future for businesses. Finance House P.J.S.C. believes that 

active participation in environmental sustainability is not merely a choice but a 

strategic imperative in today's global landscape.

ENVIRONMENTAL
INITIATIVES

Finance House P.J.S.C. and Tadweer 
have come together to support UAE’s 
“Year of Sustainability 2023” initiative, 
which envisions a future with minimal 
carbon emissions, waste production, 
and harm to biodiversity. Central to 
this endeavour is the launch of 
“Finance House’s Recycling Initia-
tive”, aimed at collecting plastic bot-
tles, cans, and papers within the FH 
Group. Our ambition is to transform 
our office spaces into community col-
lection points, serving as beacons of 
change and awareness for recycling. 
This is a remarkable partnership with 
Tadweer, the Abu Dhabi Waste Man-
agement Center, to embark on a jour-
ney towards a greener, cleaner, and 
more sustainable future.

Finance House P.J.S.C. joined millions 
of people around the world in observ-
ing the “Earth Hour”, an annual event 
that symbolizes our commitment to 
the planet we call home. By turning off 
our lights for one hour, we show our 
solidarity in the fight against climate 
change and remind ourselves of the 
urgent need to protect our environ-
ment.
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As the UAE celebrates the 'Year 
of Sustainability 2023’ – 
Finance House P.J.S.C. has 
launched the “Switch off the 
Lights Campaign” within the 
organization. We have created 
a post to our social media page 
as well to educate our custom-
ers and encourage them to 
participate on the same initia-
tive to help reduce energy con-
sumption. We believe, small 
actions can lead to a big 
impact, together we can do our 
bit for energy conservation and 
the environment.

Finance House P.J.S.C. 
shared the success of our 
“Valley Clean-Up Cam-
paign”, conducted in col-
laboration with Fujairah 
Adventure, Fujairah Envi-
ronment Authority, Ad-
ventures with Nature, 
Dibbah Municipality, and 
Civil Defense. 

Together, our collective 
efforts have not only made 
a positive impact on our 
surroundings but have 
also taken a significant 
step towards realizing a 
cleaner, greener future. As 
stewards of our communi-
ty and environment, each 
of us plays a crucial role in 
shaping a sustainable 
tomorrow.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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At Finance House P.J.S.C. making a positive impact goes beyond the boardroom 
as we dedicate ourselves to supporting community development through diverse 
initiatives. Our commitment to social responsibility and sustainability takes 
centre stage from investing in education, staff healthcare and well-being to 
actively encouraging our team to participate in social impact programs, we strive 
to uplift the communities we operate in, fostering a culture of giving back.

However, our commitment doesn't stop there. Recognizing the invaluable 
contribution of our employees, we prioritize their holistic development through a 
range of initiatives – from talent retention programs to fostering engagement, 
ensuring work-life balance, and maintaining a robust ethical code. This journey 
where every action contributes not just to professional growth but also to the 
larger tapestry of social responsibility and sustainability. 

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AND
COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

Among the community initia-
tives that Finance House P.J.S.C. 
takes great pride in is the “Or-
ganic Food Market”, a collabo-
rative effort featuring locally 
produced goods crafted by indi-
viduals of determination, in 
partnership with the Zayed Ag-
ricultural Center for Develop-
ment and Rehabilitation. 
This initiative stands as a testa-
ment to our ongoing commit-
ment to support, integrate, and 
empower these individuals, 
facilitating their active partici-
pation in both work and daily 
life. We are dedicated to foster-
ing inclusivity and creating 
opportunities for a more vibrant 
and interconnected community.
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In a proactive commitment to employee 
well-being, Finance House P.J.S.C. in col-
laboration with Emirates Hospital and Al 
Ahalia Hospital, organized “Free Health 
Screenings” for all employees. Recogniz-
ing that quality of life begins with good 
health, this initiative underscores our dedi-
cation to supporting our team members in 
maintaining their well-being and staying 
at the top of their game. This compli-
mentary health screenings, emphasizing 
our belief that a healthy team is an em-
powered team.

At Finance House P.J.S.C.our commitment 
to education and investing in the future is 
unwavering. Currently sponsoring three 
students through our “Students Scholar-
ship Program”, we provide monthly 
stipends to empower them to graduate 
and contribute meaningfully to our com-
munity.

Finance House P.J.S.C. yearly 
Blood Donation Day help save 
lives to those in need. The event 
was organized in collaboration 
with Abu Dhabi Health Services 
Co. (SEHA) participated by our 
employees and the community.

In alignment with our dedication to train young Emirati students to learn the skills 
of the future and transition into the private sector of the UAE, we proudly support 
the “Work Experience Program Pilot Project (WEPP)”, a nationwide initiative by 
the UAE Ministry of Human Resources and Emiratisation (MOHRE) in collabora-
tion with Higher Colleges of Technology (HCT).

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Furthermore, our commitment extends to the next generation of professionals 
through the Finance House P.J.S.C. “Student Internship Program”. This initiative 
provides undergraduate university students with a unique opportunity to engage 
with our diverse team across various departments. By immersing themselves in 
the world of business and finance, participants gain valuable insights and 
hands-on training, preparing them for successful futures in their chosen fields.

At Finance House P.J.S.C. our commitment extends beyond mere operation—we 
are dedicated to maintaining an engaged and motivated team. It is our steadfast 
endeavor to perpetually navigate the path towards excellence. 

Believing in empowering our team's success, Finance House’s Learning and 
Development Function tirelessly works to provide learning tools for our 
employees. 

Through initiatives like Learn & Earn, in-house classes, structured and specialized 
training, professional development, and LinkedIn Learning—powerful tools 
supporting staff professional development throughout the year—we 
acknowledge and celebrate all participants quarterly. Moreover, we provide cash 
rewards to our employees who successfully complete learning courses to value 
their dedication towards success and advancement.

This initiative reflects our dedication to fostering education and a culture of 
growth, innovation, and excellence.
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At Finance House P.J.S.C. our 
commitment to cultivating a 
world of equality, inclusivity, 
and opportunity includes a 
strong emphasis on “women 
empowerment”. We express 
our heartfelt appreciation for 
the invaluable contributions of 
our female employees by pre-
senting tokens of gratitude 
during both International 
Women’s Day and Emirati 
Women’s Day.

We have sponsored 
Female Emirati Youth by 
supporting talented driv-
ers currently engaged in 
the F.I.A. formula 1 Acade-
my championship com-
peting with the Formula 1 
Academy team called MP 
Motorsport. This gesture 
serves as a sincere 
acknowledgment and cel-
ebration of the profound 
impact these women have 
on the growth and success 
of our company and, by 
extension, our broader 
society.

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
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Finance House P.J.S.C. has secured the prestigious Employee Engagement of the Year - 
Financial Services award at the esteemed Middle East Management Excellence Awards. 
This recognition underscores Finance House's exceptional endeavours within the finan-
cial services sector, where we have championed a collaborative atmosphere that em-
powers the workforce and propels business success.

The groundbreaking employee engagement initiatives, including a unique working 
week and holistic well-being programmes, highlight our dedication to nurturing a har-
monious and high-performing workforce.

42



In a vibrant display of community and employee engagement, Finance House P.J.S.C. 
celebrated the UAE National Day with a traditional event. Filled with cultural richness to 
the occasion with a captivating traditional dance performance. The event featured intri-
cately set-up tents where employees enjoyed Emirati arts and crafts, delicacies like 
"Reqaq" and "Luqeimat catered by Emirati entrepreneurs.
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We go beyond conventional investment strategies. At the core of our approach is 
the development and promotion of investment and financial products to serve 
the community.

In our dedication to responsible business practices, we implement lending 
strategies aimed at fostering financial accessibility within the communities we 
serve and establishing sustainable business partnerships and clients’ 
relationship to contribute to economic growth of the UAE. 

Our initiatives are not just about financial returns; they’re about reinforcing 
client relationships and contributing to a sustainable and responsible economic 
landscape.

In a significant move aimed 

at transforming the credit 

card offerings for UAE 

nationals, Finance House 

proudly announced the 

launch of its revolutionary 

credit card, "Forsa." The 

Forsa proposition is set to 

have an immediate and 

positive impact on the lives 

of UAE nationals, offering 

unmatched benefits 

targeted at improving their 

financial well-being.

ECONOMIC
INITIATIVES

With the introduction of Forsa, UAE nationals gain the unprecedented 

opportunity to consolidate their credit card debts into a single card, unlocking 

substantial savings on interest rates paid on other credit cards with flexible 

repayment options. 44



Finance House is known for its commitment to innovation and leadership, 

proudly announces its latest achievement as one of the pioneering financial 

institutions to adopt the revolutionary Aani instant payments platform making 

the technology available to its customers through the Finance House Mobile 

App.

Aani represents a progressive technology that is poised to transform the tradi-

tional landscape of payments and financial transactions in the UAE. This trans-

formative change is led by the Central Bank of the UAE (CBUAE) and El Etihad 

Payments.
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Finance House P.J.S.C. is proud to support SMEs and 
homegrown businesses that contribute to the growth of the 
national economy. This Emirati Doll Project, developed by 
an Emirati woman, captures the essence of our customs and 
heritage. 
The Emirati Dolls have been distributed to our clients, 
business partners as FH corporate giveaways.

Finance House Group was amongst the 
10 leading companies signing the MoU 
at the 'Make it in the Emirates' Forum, 
supporting Abu Dhabi’s Industrial Strat-
egy and enriching our financial ecosys-
tem!
The “Make it in the Emirates” forum, 
organized by the Ministry of Industry 
and Advance Technology (MoIAT) was 
held in Abu Dhabi on June 2023. The 
forum aimed to promote growth of 
national industries and discuss opportu-
nities for partnership and cooperation in 
the industrial sector, thereby develop-
ing UAE as a global manufacturing hub. 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Finance House have joined forces 
through Memorandum of Under-
standing (MoU) with Emirates Entre-
preneurship Association (EEA) and 
Continental Investments LMD to 
drive the growth and development 
of Micro, Small, Medium Enterprises 
(mSMEs) throughout the UAE.

The MoUs harnesses the combined strengths of Finance House, EEA and LMD 
leveraging the dedicated efforts in SME development and their expertise in pro-
viding diverse financial services.

The MoU reflects the Finance House's unwavering commitment to supporting 
and nurturing entrepreneurship across the nation while highlighting the signifi-
cant contributions of mSMEs to the UAE's economic landscape.
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As a pivotal governmental entity, Al Etihad Credit Bureau (AECB) has played a cru-

cial role in shaping the financial landscape of the UAE. Its impactful contributions 

extend to facilitating informed lending decisions, robust risk management, proac-

tive fraud prevention, and ensuring adherence to regulatory standards. In Decem-

ber of the previous year, AECB expanded its credit registry in collaboration with 

the Ministry of Justice, enhancing the scope for lenders to access comprehensive 

financial profiles of both companies and individuals.

In its commitment to championing responsible borrowing and contributing sig-

nificantly to financial stability across the UAE, Al Etihad Credit Bureau (AECB) con-

sistently establishes benchmarks in the country's financial sector. This dedication 

to responsible lending, adept risk management, and promoting financial trans-

parency is underscored in a recent meeting between AECB's Chief Executive Offi-

cer, His Excellency Marwan Lutfi, and Mohamad Alqubaisi, Founder of Finance 

House PJSC. AECB's unwavering commitment continues to play a pivotal role in 

shaping the financial landscape of the UAE.
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